










For the year ended 31 December 2016

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

49. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could be 
required to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty 
to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more 
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change 
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood 
that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject 
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the 
reporting period.

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
Fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The following table gives information about how the fair values are determined (in particular, the valuation 
techniques and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are 
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for 
identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

Except for the following financial liabilities, the directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

49. Financial Instruments (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)
Fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
(continued)

Financial assets

Fair value as at 

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation techniques 
and key inputs

31 December  31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000     

Financial assets designed 
as at FVTPL

127,275 19,200 Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash 
flows are estimated based on 
expected return, and the contracted 
investment costs, discounted at a 
rate that reflects the internal rate of 
return of varies property projects.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair 
value disclosures are required)
Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
liabilities carried at amortised cost recognised in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value 
hierarchy

2016
Carrying 
amount

2016
Fair value

2015
Carrying 
amount

2015
Fair value

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Senior notes Level 1 11,841,852 12,430,527 7,523,775 7,735,192
Listed corporate bonds Level 1 3,110,162 3,209,098 2,011,477 2,025,673
Non-listed corporate bonds Level 3 3,427,611 3,538,016 – –
Assets backed securities issued Level 3 275,084 289,245 – –      

50. Operating Lease Commitments

The Group as lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases which fall due as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Within one year 47,023 12,684
In the second to the fifth year inclusive 589,542 –   

636,565 12,684   

Operating lease payments represented rentals payable by the Group for certain offices premises and commercial properties. 
Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for terms of one to fifteen years.
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50. Operating Lease Commitments (continued)

The Group as lessor
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease 
payments:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Within one year 184,283 145,236
In the second to the fifth year inclusive 487,261 347,825
After the fifth year 165,241 86,184   

836,785 579,245   

Property rental income represented rentals receivable by the Group. Leases are negotiated for an average term of one to 
twenty years with fixed rentals.

51. Capital and Other Commitments

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Construction commitments in respect of properties for sale contracted for 
but not provided in the consolidated financial statements 1,421,711 3,736,077   

Construction commitments in respect of investment properties contracted for 
but not provided in the consolidated financial statements 182,699 130,719   

Consideration committed in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries contracted for 
but not provided in the consolidated financial statements 18,142 84,556   

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements 21,325 3,695   
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52. Share Option Schemes

(a) The Company
The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 27 October 
2009 for the primary purposes of providing incentives to certain directors and employees of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (“Eligible Employees”). Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company is authorised to grant 
options at a consideration of HKD1 per option to the Eligible Employees to subscribe for shares in the Company 
(“Shares”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme 
(“Options”) and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not, in the absence of shareholders’ approval, 
in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. Options granted to a substantial 
shareholder or an independent non-executive director in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a 
value in excess of HKD5 million must be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The exercisable period of an option is determined by the directors at their discretion. The expiry date of the option 
may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company which shall not be later than the expiry day of the 
Scheme.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the greater of: (i) the 
closing price of the Company on the offer date; (ii) the average of the closing price of the Company’s shares for 
the five trading days immediately preceding the offer of the options and (iii) the nominal value per share of the 
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no share option was lapsed (2015: 19,325,000).

As at 31 December 2016, the total number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of all options granted under the 
Scheme is 85,326,000 (2015: 85,944,000) of HKD0.1 each, representing approximately 1.5% (2015: 1.5%) of the 
issued share capital of the Company.
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52. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(a) The Company (continued)
Details of the share options granted under the Scheme is as follows:

Category of Grantees Date of grant
Exercise price

per share Vesting period Exercisable period
HKD     

Directors 29 August 2011 0.836 29/8/2011–28/8/2012 29/8/2012–28/8/2021
29/8/2011–28/8/2013 29/8/2013–28/8/2021
29/8/2011–28/8/2014 29/8/2014–28/8/2021

16 October 2012 0.8 16/10/2012–15/10/2013 16/10/2013–15/10/2022
16/10/2012–15/10/2014 16/10/2014–15/10/2022
16/10/2012–15/10/2015 16/10/2015–15/10/2022

Employees 29 August 2011 0.836 29/8/2011–28/8/2012 29/8/2012–28/8/2021
29/8/2011–28/8/2013 29/8/2013–28/8/2021
29/8/2011–28/8/2014 29/8/2014–28/8/2021

16 October 2012 0.8 16/10/2012–15/10/2013 16/10/2013–15/10/2022
16/10/2012–15/10/2014 16/10/2014–15/10/2022
16/10/2012–15/10/2015 16/10/2015–15/10/2022

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held by employees and directors during the 
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015:

Category of
Grantees Date of grant Vesting period

Outstanding
at 1 January

2015

Granted
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Outstanding at
31 December

2015

Granted
during

the year

lCancelled/
apsed during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Outstanding at
31 December

2016            

Directors 29 August 2011 29/8/2011–28/8/2012 1,619,000 – (264,000) (197,000) 1,158,000 – – – 1,158,000
29/8/2011–28/8/2013 3,539,000 – (528,000) (394,000) 2,617,000 – – – 2,617,000
29/8/2011–28/8/2014 11,032,000 – (1,847,000) (1,380,000) 7,805,000 – – – 7,805,000

16 October 2012 16/10/2012–15/10/2013 1,792,000 – (340,000) (17,000) 1,435,000 – – – 1,435,000
16/10/2012–15/10/2014 3,781,000 – (681,000) (33,000) 3,067,000 – – – 3,067,000
16/10/2012–15/10/2015 12,347,000 – (2,383,000) (116,000) 9,848,000 – – – 9,848,000            

34,110,000 – (6,043,000) (2,137,000) 25,930,000 – – – 25,930,000            
Employees 29 August 2011 29/8/2011–28/8/2012 3,436,000 – (398,000) (130,000) 2,908,000 – – (47,000) 2,861,000

29/8/2011–28/8/2013 6,571,000 – (796,000) (260,000) 5,515,000 – – (94,000) 5,421,000
29/8/2011–28/8/2014 24,353,000 – (2,786,000) (909,000) 20,658,000 – – (328,000) 20,330,000

16 October 2012 16/10/2012–15/10/2013 4,052,000 – (931,000) (28,000) 3,093,000 – – (15,000) 3,078,000
16/10/2012–15/10/2014 7,907,000 – (1,860,000) (57,000) 5,990,000 – – (30,000) 5,960,000
16/10/2012–15/10/2015 28,561,000 – (6,511,000) (200,000) 21,850,000 – – (104,000) 21,746,000            

74,880,000 – (13,282,000) (1,584,000) 60,014,000 – – (618,000) 59,396,000            
Total 108,990,000 – (19,325,000) (3,721,000) 85,944,000 – – (618,000) 85,326,000            
Exercisable at the end of the year 85,944,000 85,326,000            
Weighted average exercise price 

at the date of exercise (HKD) 0.83 0.83           
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52. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(a) The Company (continued)
The closing price of the shares on the date of grant was HKD0.77 at 16 October 2012. Binomial Option Pricing 
Model had been used to estimate the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the 
fair value of the share options are based on the Company’s best estimate. The value of an option varies with different 
variables of certain subjective assumptions. The inputs into the model are as follows:

16 October
2012

29 August 
2011   

Market price HKD0.77 HK0.820
Exercise price HKD0.80 HK0.836
Expected volatility 44.87% 40.43%
Risk-free rate 0.66% 1.74%
Expected dividend yield 5.12% 4.878%

The Group did not recognise any expense for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: RMB2,464,000) in relation 
to share options granted by the Company.

(b) Colour Life
A non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Colour Life, operates a share option scheme (the “Colour Life’s 
Scheme”). The Colour Life’s Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 11 June 2014 for the primary 
purposes of providing incentives to certain directors and employees of the Colour Life and its subsidiaries (“Eligible 
Employees”). Under the Colour Life’s Scheme, the Board of Directors of Colour Life is authorised to grant options 
at a consideration of HKD1 per option respectively to the Eligible Employees to subscribe for shares of Colour Life 
(“Colour Life’s Shares”).

The maximum number of Colour Life’s Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under 
the Colour Life’s Scheme (“Colour Life’s Options”) and any other share option schemes of Colour Life shall not, in 
the absence of shareholders’ approval, in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of Colour Life in issue at any point in 
time. Colour Life’s Options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non – executive director in excess 
of 0.1% of Colour Life’s share capital or with a value in excess of HKD5 million must be approved in advance by 
Colour Life’s shareholders.

The exercisable period of an option is determined by the directors of Colour Life at their discretion. The expiry date 
of Colour Life’s Options may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Colour Life which shall not be later 
than the expiry day of Colour Life’s Scheme.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of Colour Life, and will not be less than the greater of: (i) the closing 
price of Colour Life on the offer date; (ii) the average of the closing price of Colour Life’s shares for the five trading 
days immediately preceding the offer of Colour Life’s options and (iii) the nominal value per share of Colour Life.

As at 31 December 2016, the total number of Colour Life’s shares to be issued upon the exercise of all options 
granted under the Colour Life’s Scheme is 90,711,000 (2015: 66,472,000) of HKD0.1 each, representing 
approximately 9.1% (2015: 6.6%) of the issued share capital of Colour Life.
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52. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(b) Colour Life (continued)
Details of the share options granted under Colour Life’s Scheme is as follows:

Category of Grantees Date of grant
Exercise price

per share Vesting period Exercisable period
HKD     

Directors 29 September 2014 6.66 N/A 29/9/2014–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2015 29/9/2015–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2016 29/9/2016–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2017 29/9/2017–28/9/2024

30 April 2015 11.00 30/4/2015–29/4/2016 30/4/2016–29/4/2025
30/4/2015–29/4/2017 30/4/2017–29/4/2025
30/4/2015–29/4/2018 30/4/2018–29/4/2025

18 March 2016 5.70 18/3/2016–17/3/2017 18/3/2017–17/3/2026
18/3/2016–17/3/2018 18/3/2018–17/3/2026
18/3/2016–17/3/2019 18/3/2019–17/3/2026

Employees and 
non-controlling 
shareholders of
certain subsidiaries

29 September 2015 6.66 N/A 29/9/2014–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2015 29/9/2015–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2016 29/9/2016–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2017 29/9/2017–28/9/2024

30 April 2015 11.00 30/4/2015–29/4/2016 30/4/2016–29/4/2025
30/4/2015–29/4/2017 30/4/2017–29/4/2025
30/4/2015–29/4/2018 30/4/2018–29/4/2025

18 March 2016 5.70 18/3/2016–17/3/2017 18/3/2017–17/3/2026
18/3/2016–17/3/2018 18/3/2018–17/3/2026
18/3/2016–17/3/2019 18/3/2019–17/3/2026
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52. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(b) Colour Life (continued)
The following table of the Company discloses movements of Colour Life’s share options held by employees and 
directors during the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015:

Category of
Grantees Date of grant Vesting period

Outstanding
at 1 January

2015

Granted
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed 
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Outstanding 
at

31 December
2015

Granted
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed 
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Outstanding 
at

31 December
2016            

Directors 29 September 2014 N/A 560,000 – – – 560,000 – (40,000) – 520,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2015 1,270,000 – – – 1,270,000 – (206,000) – 1,064,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2016 1,270,000 – – – 1,270,000 – (206,000) – 1,064,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2017 711,000 – – – 711,000 – (163,000) – 548,000

30 April 2015 30/4/2015–29/4/2016 – 477,000 – – 477,000 – (41,000) – 436,000
30/4/2015–29/4/2017 – 477,000 – – 477,000 – (42,000) – 435,000
30/4/2015–29/4/2018 – 476,000 – – 476,000 – (41,000) – 435,000

18 March 2016 19/3/2016–17/3/2017 – – – – – 487,000 (60,000) – 427,000
19/3/2016–17/3/2018 – – – – – 487,000 (61,000) – 426,000
19/3/2016–17/3/2019 – – – – – 486,000 (60,000) – 426,000            

3,811,000 1,430,000 – – 5,241,000 1,460,000 (920,000) – 5,781,000            

Employees and
non-controlling
shareholders of 
certain subsidiaries

29 September 2014 N/A 6,107,000 – (308,000) (119,000) 5,680,000 – (145,000) – 5,535,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2015 13,730,000 – (1,070,000) – 12,660,000 – (1,037,000) – 11,623,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2016 13,730,000 – (1,070,000) – 12,660,000 – (1,037,000) – 11,623,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2017 7,622,000 – (763,000) – 6,859,000 – (891,000) – 5,968,000

30 April 2015 30/4/2015–29/4/2016 – 7,857,000 (62,000) – 7,795,000 – (1,551,000) – 6,244,000
30/4/2015–29/4/2017 – 7,857,000 (62,000) – 7,795,000 – (1,552,000) – 6,243,000
30/4/2015–29/4/2018 – 7,856,000 (62,000) – 7,794,000 – (1,551,000) – 6,243,000

18 March 2016 19/3/2016–17/3/2017 – – – – – 10,929,000 (445,000) – 10,484,000
19/3/2016–17/3/2018 – – – – – 10,929,000 (445,000) – 10,484,000
19/3/2016–17/3/2019 – – – – – 10,929,000 (446,000) – 10,483,000            

41,189,000 23,570,000 (3,397,000) (119,000) 61,243,000 32,787,000 (9,043,000) – 84,930,000            

Total 45,000,000 25,000,000 (3,397,000) (119,000) 66,484,000 34,247,000 (9,963,000) – 90,711,000            

Exercisable at the end of the year 38,109,000            

Weighted average exercise price 
at the date of exercise (HKD) 6.66 –            
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52. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(b) Colour Life (continued)
The closing price of Colour Life’s shares on the date of grant was HKD5.76 on 18 March 2016, HKD6.66 on 29 
September 2014 and HKD10.88 on 30 April 2015, respectively. Binomial Option Pricing Model had been used to 
estimate the fair value of Colour Life’s options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of 
the share options are based on Colour Life’s best estimate. The value of Colour Life’s option varies with different 
variables of certain subjective assumptions. The inputs into the model are as follows:

18 March
2016

30 April
2015

29 September
2014    

Market price HKD5.76 HKD10.88 HKD6.66
Exercise price HKD5.76 HKD11.00 HKD6.66
Expected volatility 46.20% 46.26% 48.82%
Risk-free rate 1.27% 1.63% 2.01%
Expected dividend yield 1.55% 0.83% 0.00%

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the estimated fair value of Colour Life’s options at the date of grant was 
RMB72,023,000 (2015: RMB104,714,000). Colour Life recognised the total expense of RMB79,041,000 (2015: 
RMB88,431,000) as share option reserve included in other non-controlling interests for the year ended 31 December 
2016 in relation to share options granted by Colour Life.

(c) Morning Star
A wholly owned subsidiary of the Company acquired during the year, Morning Star, operates a share option scheme 
(the “Morning Star’s Scheme”). The Morning Star’s Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 24 
December 2015 for the primary purposes of providing incentives to certain directors and employees of the Morning 
Star and its subsidiaries (“Eligible Employees”). According to the Morning Star’s Scheme, the Board of Directors 
of Morning Star is authorised to grant options at a consideration of HKD1 per option respectively to the Eligible 
Employees to subscribe for shares of Morning Star (“Morning Star’s Shares”).

The exercisable period of an option is determined by the directors of Morning Star at their discretion. The expiry 
date of Morning Star’s Options may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Morning Star which shall not be 
later than the expiry day of Morning Star’s Scheme.

As at 31 December 2016, the total number of Morning Star’s shares to be issued upon the exercise of all options 
granted under the Morning Star’s Scheme is 7,000,000 of HKD1 each, representing approximately 7% of the issued 
share capital of Morning Star.
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52. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(c) Morning Star (continued)
Details of the share options granted under Morning Star’s Scheme is as follows:

Category of Grantees Date of grant
Granted during

the year Vesting period Exercisable period Vesting condition      

Eligible Employees 24 December 2015 2,000,000 25/12/2015–30/3/2017 1/4/2017–30/4/2017 the net profit of Morning Star for 
year ended 31 December 2016 
meets RMB10,000,000

3,000,000 25/12/2015–30/3/2018 1/4/2018–30/4/2018 the net profit of Morning Star for 
year ending 31 December 2017 
meets RMB20,000,000

2,000,000 25/12/2015–30/3/2019 1/4/2019–30/4/2019 the net profit of Morning Star for 
year ending 31 December 2018 
meets RMB40,000,000

Binomial Option Pricing Model had been used to estimate the fair value of these share – based payment transactions 
with cash alternative arrangements. The estimated fair value of the share options of Morning Star is RMB5,743,000 
which represented the goods or services received from the Employees. The variables and assumptions used in 
computing the fair value of the share options are based on the management of the Company’s best estimate. The 
expected volatility is based on the historical annualised daily volatilities of comparable companies as if the same 
sector. Risk-free rate is based on the yield of HK Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes as of valuation date as quoted 
from Bloomberg. The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The inputs 
into the model are as follows:

24 December
2015  

Share price HKD1.85
Exercise price HKD1.00
Expected volatility 45.5% – 54.6%
Risk-free rate 0.25% – 0.84%
Expected dividend yield 0.0%

Morning Star recognised the total expense of RMB2,914,000 (2015: RMB28,000) as share option reserve included 
in other non-controlling interests for the year ended 31 December 2016 in relation to share options granted by 
Morning Star.
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53. Retirement Benefits Plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group 
contributes certain percentage of relevant payroll costs to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, which contribution is 
matched by employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state – Managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC 
Government. The Company’s subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll to the retirement 
benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme is to make the required 
contributions under the scheme.

The Group made contributions to the retirement benefits schemes of RMB130,307,000 (2015: RMB77,208,000).

54. Contingent Liabilities

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000    

(a) Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties 6,258,249 6,441,957    

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks in connection with the 
mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is 
default of the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage loans 
together with accrued interests thereon and any penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to banks. The Group is then 
entitled to take over the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of the 
relevant mortgage loans and ends after the buyer obtained the individual property ownership certificate.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of guarantee contracts is insignificant at initial recognition. Also, no provision 
for the guarantee contracts at the end of the reporting period is recognised as the default risk is low.

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000    

(b) Financial guarantees given to a bank for the banking facilities
granted to a joint venture, Novena 536,810 513,098    

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of banking facilities granted by a bank to Novena. In the opinion of the 
directors, the fair value of guarantee contract is insignificant at initial recognition. Also, no provision for the guarantee 
contracts at the end of the reporting period is recognised as the default risk is low.
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55. Related Party Disclosures

During the year, in addition to those disclosed in elsewhere at the consolidated financial statements, the Group had 
following significant transactions with related parties:

(a) Related party transactions

Related parties Relationship Transactions 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000     

Wanxiangmei Subsidiary of a joint venture
of the Company

Consultancy service
fee income

31,475 –

Shenzhen Wanxiang Joint venture of the Company Management fee income 3,960 –     

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Short-term benefits 81,278 89,449
Post-employment benefits 14,649 13,998
Share-based payments – 2,575   

95,927 106,022   

(c) Others
(i) As at 31 December 2016, certain directors of the Company provided joint guarantees to the banks and 

trust company to secure the Group’s bank and other borrowings amounting to RMB177,300,000 (2015: 
RMB275,320,000) in aggregate.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group had sold certain properties to its key management 
personnel (not including the directors of the Company) of the Group, at a cash consideration of 
RMB11,667,000 (2015: RMB16,840,000).
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56. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company

(a) Material subsidiaries of the Company
Particulars of principal subsidiaries indirectly held, unless otherwise stated, by the Company as at 31 December 2016 
and 2015 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place and date

of incorporation/

establishment

Issued and

fully paid share/

registered capital

Proportion

effective interest

held by the Group Principal activities Legal form

RMB’000 2016 2015       

Colour Life Services Group Co., Ltd 
(“Colour Life”)Δ

The Cayman Islands
16 March 2011

84,313 50.39% 50.39% Investment holding Limited liability 
company

花樣年集團（中國）有限公司
Fantasia Group (China) Co., Ltd*

The PRC
20 January 2006

1,624,844 100% 100% Investment holding and 
property development

Limited liability 
company

深圳市花樣年地產集團有限公司
Shenzhen Fantasia Real Estate

Group Limited (“Shenzhen Fantasia”)*

The PRC
28 September 1996

150,000 100% 100% Investment holding, 
Property development 
and investment 

Limited liability 
company

成都市花樣年房地產開發有限公司
Chengdu Fantasia Real Estate Co., Ltd*

The PRC
18 October 2001

75,610 100% 100% Property development 
and investment 

Limited liability 
company

深圳市花千里房地產開發有限公司
Shenzhen Huaqianli Real Estate

Investment Development Co., Ltd*

The PRC
28 August 2006

660,339 100% 100% Investment holding Limited liability 
company

成都花萬裏置業有限公司 
Chengdu Huawanli Real Estate Co., Ltd*

The PRC
25 October 2005

100,000 100% 100% Property development 
and investment 

Limited liability 
company

成都花千里置業有限公司
Chengdu Huaqianli Real Estate Co., Ltd*

The PRC
6 November 2006

704,680 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都花百里置業有限公司
Chengdu Huabaili Real Estate Co., Ltd*

The PRC
22 May 2003 

270,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

深圳市康年科技有限公司
Shenzhen Kangnian Technology Co., Ltd*

The PRC
9 February 2007

100,000 100% 100% Property development 
and investment 

Limited liability 
company

成都花樣年望叢文化發展有限公司
Chengdu Fantasia Wangcong Culture 

Development Co., Ltd*

The PRC
6 August 2008

300,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都九蓉房地產開發有限公司
Chengdu Jiurong Real Estate Co., Ltd*

The PRC
22 August 2007

320,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company
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Name of subsidiary

Place and date

of incorporation/

establishment

Issued and

fully paid share/

registered capital

Proportion

effective interest

held by the Group Principal activities Legal form

RMB’000 2016 2015       

深圳市花樣年房地產開發有限公司
Shenzhen Fantasia Real Estate Co., Ltd*

The PRC
20 April 2006

150,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

惠州市惠陽區花千里實業有限公司
Huizhou Huiyang Huaqianli Industry 

Co., Ltd*

The PRC
14 August 2012

100,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

蘇州花萬裡房地產開發有限公司
Suzhou Huawanli Real Estate Co., Ltd* 

The PRC
9 September 2009

180,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

東莞花千里房地產開發有限公司
Dongguan Huaqianli Property 

Development Co., Ltd*

The PRC
30 April 2012

30,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都市諾亞舟實業有限公司
Chengdu Nuoyazhou Development 

Co., Ltd*

The PRC
17 June 2008

300,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

桂林萬豪房地產開發有限公司 
Guilin Wanhao Property Co., Ltd*

The PRC
14 November 2007

250,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

桂林聚豪房地產開發有限公司 
Guilin Juhao Property Development 

Co., Ltd*

The PRC
14 November 2007 

250,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company 

深圳市彩生活物業管理有限公司
Shenzhen Colour Life Property 

Management Co., Ltd
(“Shenzhen Colour Life”)#

The PRC
11 December 2000

35,000 50.39% 50.39% Provision of property 
operation services

Limited liability 
company

深圳置富房地產開發有限公司
Shenzhen Zhifu Real Estate Investment 

Development Co., Ltd*

The PRC
1 July 1994

946,844 100% 100% Property development 
and investment 

Limited liability 
company

深圳市彩生活網絡服務有限公司
Shenzhen Colour Life Network Services 

Co., Ltd*#

The PRC
12 June 2007

10,000 50.39% 50.39% Provision of property 
operation services

Limited liability 
company

56. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(a) Material subsidiaries of the Company (continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Place and date

of incorporation/

establishment

Issued and

fully paid share/

registered capital

Proportion

effective interest

held by the Group Principal activities Legal form

RMB’000 2016 2015       

深圳市開元同濟樓宇科技有限公司
Shenzhen Kaiyuan Tongji Building

Science & Technology Co., Ltd*#

The PRC
15 November 2001

5,000 50.39% 50.39% Provision of engineering 
services

Limited liability 
company

花樣年（成都）生態旅遊開發有限公司
Fantasia (Chengdu) Ecological Tourism 

Development Co., Ltd*

The PRC
7 September 2006

1,344,970 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都望叢房地產開發有限公司 
Chengdu Wangcong Property 

Development Co., Ltd*

The PRC
28 June 2014 

394,400 100% 60% Property development Limited liability 
company

蘇州銀莊置地有限公司
Suzhou Yinzhuang Real Estate Co., Ltd* 

The PRC
25 January 2006

500,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

惠州TCL房地產開發有限公司
 Huizhou TCL Property Development 

Co., Ltd*

The PRC
29 December 2004 

100,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都花樣年置富房地產開發有限公司
Chengdu Fantasia Zhifu Property 

Development Co., Ltd*

The PRC
13 March 2014

500,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

寧波世紀華豐房產有限公司
Ningbo Century Huafeng Property 

Co., Ltd*

The PRC
25 March 2010

427,500 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

深圳市開元國際物業管理有限公司 
Shenzhen Kaiyuan International Property 

Management Co., Ltd*#

The PRC
19 October 2000

330,000 50.39% 50.39% Provision of property 
operation services

Limited liability 
company 

深圳市越華創新科技工業城
有限公司

Shenzhen Yuehua Innovation Technology 
Industry City Co., Ltd.* 
(“Shenzhen Yuehua”)

The PRC
15 September 2004

62,500 51% 51% Property development Limited liability 
company

56. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(a) Material subsidiaries of the Company (continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Place and date

of incorporation/

establishment

Issued and

fully paid share/

registered capital

Proportion

effective interest

held by the Group Principal activities Legal form

RMB’000 2016 2015       

深圳市永利鴻盈投資有限公司
Shenzhen Yonglihongying 

Investment Co., Ltd.*

The PRC
23 August 2005

10,000 81% 81% Property development Limited liability 
company

武漢TCL置地投資有限公司
WuhanTCL Real Estate Investment 

Co., Ltd.*

The PRC
06 May 2011

30,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

四川瀚峰置業有限公司 
Sichuan Hanfeng Real Estate Co., Ltd*^

The PRC 356,850 91% – Property development Limited liability 
company

重慶泓山物業管理有限公司
Chongqing Hongshan Property 

Management Co., Ltd*#^

The PRC
09 September 2003

10,000 43.83% – Provision of property 
operation services

Limited liability 
company

深圳安博電子有限公司
Shenzhen Anbo Electronic Co., Ltd.

(“Shenzhen Anbo”)

The PRC
17 August 1994

87,000 51% 51% Property development Limited liability 
company

北京亞新科天緯油泵油嘴
股份有限公司

ASIMCO Tianwei Fuel Injection 
Equipment Stock (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
(“ASIMCO Tianwei”)

The PRC
3 December 1994

381,180 59.84% N/A Manufacturing and sale
of fuel pumps

Limited liability 
company

* The English name is for identification purpose only.

# These subsidiaries were held by a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company namely Colour Life as at 31 December 2016 and 2015.

^ These subsidiaries were acquired during the year ended 31 December 2016. Details are set out in note 46.

Δ Except for these subsidiaries were directly held by the Company, all other subsidiaries are indirectly owned by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the 
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in 
particulars of excessive length.

56. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(a) Material subsidiaries of the Company (continued)
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56. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(b) Composition of the Group
Information about the subsidiaries of the Company that are not material to the Group at the end of each reporting 
period is as follow:

Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
2016 2015    

Investment holding BVI 20 20
Hong Kong 19 20
PRC 18 18
USA 3 1
Singapore 1 1
Cayman 1 0

Property development PRC 94 65
Property investment PRC 1 1

Japan 1 1
Property agency services PRC 1 1
Property operation services PRC 120 89
Hotel operations PRC 5 5

USA 1 1
Other operations Hong Kong 4 3

PRC 4 –
Macao 1 1    

294 227    
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56. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 
that have material non-controlling interests.

Name
of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation
and principal
place of business

Ownership
interests and
rights held by

non-controlling interests

Profit (loss)
attributable to

non-controlling interests
Accumulated

non-controlling interests
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000        

Shenzhen Colour Life The PRC 49.61% 49.61% 20,790 31,983 168,018 147,228

Shenzhen Anbo The PRC 39% 39% 57,649 (43) 90,404 32,755

Shenzhen Yuehua The PRC 49% 49% 140,646 732 142,206 1,560

ASIMCO Tianwei The PRC 40.16% N/A (40,160) – 327,417 –        

178,925 32,672 728,045 181,543

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests

42,137 95,659 1,237,242 821,361

        

221,062 128,331 1,965,287 1,002,904        
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56. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (continued)
Summarised financial information in respect of Company’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is 
set out below. The summarised financial information below represented amounts before intra group eliminations.

Shenzhen Colour Life Shenzhen Anbo
2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

Current assets 918,715 806,648 3,654 464,920
Non-current assets 24,202 29,830 803,072 35
Current liabilities 344,250 429,708 414,766 380,969
Non-current liabilities 259,990 110,000 160,156 –
Equity attributable to owners of the company 170,659 149,542 141,400 51,231
Non-controlling interests 168,018 147,228 90,404 32,755     
Revenue 139,202 158,888 – –
Cost of sales (43,988) (55,068) – –
Recognition of change in fair value of property for sale 

upon transfer from investment property – – 227,172 –
Expenses (53,307) (39,351) (79,354) (111)
Profit (loss) for the year 41,907 64,469 147,818 (111)
Profit (loss) attributable to the owners of the company 21,117 32,486 90,169 (68)
Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling 

interests 20,790 31,983 57,649 (43)     
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 90,211 61,871 (87,824) (20,982)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities 77,435 (3,265) 5 (16)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities 26,267 (79,470) 89,503 20,767
Net cash inflow (outflow) 193,913 (20,864) 1,684 (231)     
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56. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (continued)

Shenzhen Yuehua
ASIMCO

Tianwei
2016 2015 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

Current assets 922,603 374,751 1,578,396
Non-current assets 134 203 267,910
Current liabilities 632,520 371,771 659,701
Non-current liabilities – – 371,323
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 148,011 1,623 487,865
Non-controlling interests 142,206 1,560 327,417    
Revenue 522,982 – 158,989
Cost of sales (134,926) – (147,142)
Expenses (101,022) (1,494) (111,847)
Profit (loss) for the year 287,034 (1,494) (100,000)
Profit (loss) attributable to the owners of the Company 146,388 (762) (59,840)
Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests 140,646 (732) (40,160)    
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 131,858 22,882 (98,260)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities (38,895) (270,153) 1,149
Net cash inflow from financing activities 46,462 283,065 87,446
Net cash inflow (outflow) 139,425 35,794 (9,665)    
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57. Information About the Statement of Financial Position of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 2,744,791 2,536,908
Amounts due from subsidiaries 8,165,950 7,066,355   

10,910,741 9,603,263   

CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables 157,169 451
Banks balances and cash 1,894,858 1,543   

2,052,027 1,994   

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables 27,653 15,537
Amounts due to subsidiaries 53,158 4,400
Bank borrowings – due within one year 1,353 201,495
Senior notes 1,794,707 1,004,105   

1,876,871 1,225,537   

NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 175,156 (1,223,543)   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 11,085,897 8,379,720   

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Senior notes 10,035,569 6,636,915
Bank borrowing – due after one year 650,000 –   

10,685,569 6,636,915   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS TOTAL LIABILITIES 400,328 1,742,805   

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 497,848 497,797
Reserves (97,520) 1,245,008   

400,328 1,742,805   
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57. Information About the Statement of Financial Position of the Company (continued)

Movement of capital and reserves:

Share
capital

Share
premium

Accumulated
losses

Share
options
reserve Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

At 1 January 2015 497,485 2,441,983 (389,239) 19,499 2,569,728
Loss and total comprehensive 

expense for the year – – (586,968) – (586,968)
Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments (note 52) – – – 2,464 2,464
Issue of share upon exercise of 

share options 312 3,219 – (938) 2,593
Share options lapsed – – 3,092 (3,092) –
Dividend distributed to 

shareholders of the Company 
(note 11) – (245,012) – – (245,012)      

At 31 December 2015 497,797 2,200,190 (973,115) 17,933 1,742,805      

Loss and total comprehensive 
expense for the year – – (1,087,099) – (1,087,099)

Issue of share upon exercise of 
share options 51 706 – (342) 415

Dividend distributed to 
shareholders of the Company 
(note 11) – (255,793) – – (255,793)      

At 31 December 2016 497,848 1,945,103 (2,060,214) 17,591 400,328      

58. Event After the Reporting Period

On 23 January 2017, the Company redeemed all outstanding senior notes (2014 – senior notes due 2019) amounting to 
USD278,900,000, equivalent to approximately  RMB1,912,473,000, at the price equal to 105.31250% of the principal 
amount thereof, being USD293,717,000, equivalent to approximately  RMB2,014,076,000, plus accrued and unpaid 
interest of USD14,817,000, equivalent to approximately RMB101,603,000, to the redemption date.

The total redemption price paid by the Company on the redemption date is US$308,534,000, equivalent to 
RMB2,115,679,000, and a loss on redemption of approximately RMB203,206,000 will be recognised in profit or loss.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF FANTASIA HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LIMITED
花樣年控股集團有限公司
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fantasia Holdings Group Co., Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 87 to 212, which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal controls as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report our 
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Group’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
2 March 2016
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86  87

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000    

Revenue 7 8,164,297 7,305,950
Cost of sales and services (5,645,554) (4,499,138)    

Gross profit 2,518,743 2,806,812
Other income, gains and losses 8 (108,360) (13,301)
Change in fair value of investment properties 16 713,887 575,840
Recognition of change in fair value of completed properties for sale upon 

transfer to investment properties 29 175,922 95,665
Selling and distribution expenses (318,594) (269,719)
Administrative expenses (741,241) (585,730)
Finance costs 9 (302,340) (290,948)
Share of results of associates 626 56
Share of results of joint ventures (7,324) (12,663)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries 46(a) 790,039 223,707    

Profit before tax 10 2,721,358  2,529,719
Income tax expense 11 (1,318,542) (1,157,408)    

Profit for the year 1,402,816 1,372,311    

Other comprehensive income (expense)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Surplus on revaluation of properties 11,876 9,942 
Deferred taxation liability arising from revaluation of properties (2,969) (2,485)     

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 8,907 7,457     

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 1,411,723 1,379,768    

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 1,210,610 1,255,341
An owner of perpetual capital instrument 63,875 42,525
Other non-controlling interests 128,331 74,445    

1,402,816 1,372,311    

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 1,215,955 1,259,815
An owner of perpetual capital instrument 63,875 42,525
Other non-controlling interests 131,893 77,428    

1,411,723 1,379,768    

Earnings per share – Basic (RMB) 14 0.21 0.22    

Earnings per share – Diluted (RMB) 14 0.21 0.22    
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At 31 December 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 15 1,766,869 1,541,882
Investment properties 16 6,884,931 6,642,075
Interests in associates 17 6,789 1,753
Interests in joint ventures 18 410,044 609,981
Available-for-sale investment 19 – 38,910
Goodwill 20 733,549 133,918
Intangible assets 21 204,474 26,850
Prepaid lease payments 22 868,698 884,550
Premium on prepaid lease payments 23 172,169 175,847
Land development expenditure 24 – 667,965
Other receivables 376,841 376,841
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries 25 231,329 262,550
Deposit paid for acquisition of a property project 26 140,946 136,648
Deposits paid for acquisition of land use rights 27 1,050,077 1,005,685
Deferred tax assets 28 462,161 498,714    

13,308,877 13,004,169    
CURRENT ASSETS
Properties for sale 29 21,801,648 19,442,516
Prepaid lease payments 22 34,274 34,274
Premium on prepaid lease payments 23 3,678 3,678
Trade and other receivables 30 4,604,047 3,873,362 
Amounts due from customers for contract works 31 88,937 59,460
Tax recoverable 107,594 34,130
Amount due from a joint venture 32 180,258 149,855
Amounts due from related parties 33 184,782 –
Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 34 19,200 –
Restricted/pledged bank deposits 35 1,336,482 914,596
Bank balances and cash 35 2,881,511 3,738,040    

31,242,411 28,249,911    
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 36 6,626,928 5,516,143
Deposits received for sale of properties 5,555,880 3,386,888
Amounts due to customers for contract works 31 17,141 8,195
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder 37 390,199 419,960
Amounts due to joint ventures 38 1,033,916 996,467
Tax liabilities 3,626,109 3,016,193
Borrowings – due within one year 39 1,407,598 4,122,925
Obligations under finance leases 40 22,101 20,826
Senior notes and bonds 41 1,004,105 746,051    

19,683,977 18,233,648    
NET CURRENT ASSETS 11,558,434 10,016,263     
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 24,867,311 23,020,432     
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder 37 329,721 686,667
Deferred tax liabilities 28 1,071,358 1,096,155
Borrowings – due after one year 39 2,556,814 3,651,475
Obligations under finance leases 40 104,979 119,749
Derivative financial instruments 6 22,673 –
Senior notes and bonds 41 8,508,474 6,022,081
Provision 42 33,255 31,931    

12,627,274 11,608,058     

12,240,037 11,412,374    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 43 497,797 497,485
Reserves 9,910,694 8,955,574    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 10,408,491 9,453,059    

Perpetual capital instrument 44 710,500 710,500
Other non-controlling interests 1,121,046 1,248,815    

Total non-controlling interests 1,831,546 1,959,315    

12,240,037 11,412,374    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 212 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 2 
March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

PAN JUN LAM KAM TONG
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company Attributable to non-controlling interests  

Share
capital

Share
premium

Special
reserve

Share
options
reserve

Contribution
reserve

Statutory
reserves

Discretionary
reserves

Property 
revaluation

reserve
Accumulated

profits Sub-total

Perpetual
capital

instrument

Share option
reserve of

Colour Life

Share
option

reserve of
Morning Star

Other non–
controlling

interests

Non-
controlling

interests
Sub-total Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii) (Note vii) (Note iv) (Note v)                 

At 1 January 2014 429,575 1,876,311 30,821 16,176 40,600 43,737 1,477 33,883 4,847,871 7,320,451 – – – 510,877 510,877 7,831,328
Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 1,255,341 1,255,341 42,525 – – 74,445 116,970 1,372,311                 
Surplus on revaluation of 

properties – – – – – – – 5,965 – 5,965 – – – 3,977 3,977 9,942
Deferred taxation liability 

arising from revaluation 
of properties – – – – – – – (1,491) – (1,491) – – – (994) (994) (2,485)                 

Other comprehensive 
income for the year – – – – – – – 4,474 – 4,474 – – – 2,983 2,983 7,457                 

Profit and total 
comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – – – – 4,474 1,255,341 1,259,815 42,525 – – 77,428 119,953 1,379,768

Acquisition of subsidiaries 
(note 45(a) and (b)) – – – – – – – – – – – – – 45,983 45,983 45,983

Issue of share as 
consideration of 
acquisition of subsidiary 67,900 871,625 – – – – – – – 939,525 – – – – – 939,525

Issue of share upon exercise 
of share option 10 101 – (30) – – – – – 81 – – – – – 81

Dilution of interests in 
subsidiaries (note vi) – – 314,811 – – – – – – 314,811 – – – 395,403 395,403 710,214

Contributions from non-
controlling shareholders 
of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – – – – – – 2,108 2,108 2,108

Dividend distributed to 
shareholders of the 
Company (note 13) – (306,054) – – – – – – – (306,054) – – – – – (306,054)

Recognition of equity-
settled share-based 
payments (note 49) – – – 3,353 – – – – – 3,353 – 29,780 – – 29,780 33,133

Acquisition of additional 
interests in subsidiaries 
from non-controlling 
shareholders – – (115,802) – – – – – – (115,802) – – – (124,053) (124,053) (239,855)

Disposal of a subsidiary 
(note 46(a)) – – – – – – – – – – – – – (57,904) (57,904) (57,904)

Disposal partial interest 
without loss of control 
(note 46(b)) – – 36,879 – – – – – – 36,879 – – – 362,361 362,361 399,240

Issue of perpetual capital 
instrument – – – – – – – – – – 700,000 – – – 700,000 700,000

Distribution to holders 
of perpetual capital 
instrument – – – – – – – – – – (32,025) – – – (32,025) (32,025)

Capitalisation of 
redeemable shares – – – – – – – – – – – – – 6,832 6,832 6,832

Transfer – – – – – 1,106 – – (1,106) – – – – – – –                 
At 31 December 2014 497,485 2,441,983 266,709 19,499 40,600 44,843 1,477 38,357 6,102,106 9,453,059 710,500 29,780 – 1,219,035 1,959,315 11,412,374
Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 1,210,610 1,210,610 63,875 – – 128,331 192,206 1,402,816                 
Surplus on revaluation of 

properties – – – – – – – 7,126 – 7,126 – – – 4,750 4,750 11,876
Deferred taxation liability 

arising from revaluation 
of properties – – – – – – – (1,781) – (1,781) – – – (1,188) (1,188) (2,969)                 

Other comprehensive 
income for the year – – – – – – – 5,345 – 5,345 – – – 3,562 3,562 8,907                 
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For the year ended 31 December 2015

Creating Value with Aspirations.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company Attributable to non-controlling interests  

Share
capital

Share
premium

Special
reserve

Share
options
reserve

Contribution
reserve

Statutory
reserves

Discretionary
reserves

Property 
revaluation

reserve
Accumulated

profits Sub-total

Perpetual
capital

instrument

Share option
reserve of

Colour Life

Share
option

reserve of
Morning Star

Other non–
controlling

interests

Non-
controlling

interests
Sub-total Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii) (Note vii) (Note iv) (Note v)                 

Profit and total 
comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – – – – 5,345 1,210,610 1,215,955 63,875 – – 131,893 195,768 1,411,723

Acquisition of subsidiaries 
(note 45(b)) – – – – – – – – – – – – – 15,809 15,809 15,809

Issue of share upon exercise 
of share option 312 3,219 – (938) – – – – – 2,593 – (97) – 664 567 3,160

Contributions from non-
controlling shareholders 
of a subsidiary – – – – – – – – – – – – – 4,500 4,500 4,500

Dividend distributed to 
shareholders of the 
Company (note 13) – (245,012) – – – – – – – (245,012) – – – – – (245,012)

Recognition of equity-
settled share-based 
payments (note 49) – – – 2,464 – – – – – 2,464 – 88,431 28 – 88,459 90,923

Share option lapsed (note 
49) – – – (3,092) – – – – 3,092 – – – – – – –

Acquisition of additional 
interests in subsidiaries 
from non-controlling 
shareholders – – (41,709) – – – – – – (41,709) – – – (369,411) (369,411) (411,120)

Disposal of subsidiaries 
(note 46(a)) – – – – – – – (23,334) 23,334 – – – – (279,945) (279,945) (279,945)

Disposal of partial interest 
without loss of control 
(note 46(b)) – – 21,141 – – – – – – 21,141 – – – 280,359 280,359 301,500

Distribution to holders 
of perpetual capital 
instrument – – – – – – – – – – (63,875) – – – (63,875) (63,875)

Transfer – – – – – 14,340 – – (14,340) – – – – – – –                 
At 31 December 2015 497,797 2,200,190 246,141 17,933 40,600 59,183 1,477 20,368 7,324,802 10,408,491 710,500 118,114 28 1,002,904 1,831,546 12,240,037                 

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to article 16 of the Company’s Article of Association, the Company is permitted to pay out dividend from share premium account.

(ii) Special reserve arising from the acquisition or disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries without loss of control. It represents the difference between the 
consideration paid or received and the adjustment to the non-controlling interests in subsidiaries.

(iii) Share options reserve represents the share-based payment under the Company’s share option scheme.

(iv) The statutory reserves and discretionary reserves relate to subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and are non-distributable. Transfers to 
these reserves are determined by the board of directors or the shareholders’ meeting of the PRC subsidiaries in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations 
of the PRC. These reserves can be used to offset accumulated losses, expand the scale of production and business and increase capital upon approval from the 
relevant authorities.

(v) Property revaluation surplus arose from the transfer of owner-occupied property to investment properties at the date of change in use.

(vi) Colour Life Service Group Co., Limited (“Colour Life”) has listed its shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with effect 
from 30 June 2014. On the same date, 250,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each of Colour Life were issued by way of public offering 
and placing (“Share Offer”), the net proceeds received by Colour Life, after deducting the expenses relating to the Share Offer, was RMB710,214,000. 
The Group’s percentage of equity interest in Colour Life was then diluted from 67.19% to 50.39% upon completion of the Share Offer. The difference of 
RMB314,811,000 between the share of net assets of Colour Life amounted to RMB395,403,000 and the net proceeds were recognised in special reserve.

(vii) Contribution reserve represents (a) the contribution/distribution to shareholders during the group reorganisation in 2009; (b) the difference between the 
consideration paid and the fair value of net assets acquired from related parties; (c) the difference between the consideration received and the carrying amount 
of net assets disposed of to related parties during the group reorganisation in 2009; and (d) the waiver of shareholder loans in 2009.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 2,721,358 2,529,719
Adjustments for:

Change in fair value of investment properties (713,887) (575,840)
Recognition of change in fair value of completed properties 

for sale upon transfer to investment properties (175,922) (95,665)
Investment income on financial assets designated as at FVTPL (442) –
Fair value adjustment on option derivative (6,917) –
Release of prepaid lease payments 15,852 24,588
Release of premium on prepaid lease payments 3,678 22,910
Amortisation of intangible assets 13,004 3,505
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 130,213 91,095
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (169) (321)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries (790,039) (223,707)
Allowance on bad and doubtful debts, net 44,504 39,653
Bank interest income (30,127) (23,351)
Finance costs 302,340 290,948
Net foreign exchange loss 233,559 50,514
Share of results of associates (626) (56)
Share of results of joint ventures 7,324 12,663
Share-based payment expenses 90,923 33,133   

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 1,844,626 2,179,788
Additions to prepaid lease payments – (275,995)
Decrease (increase) in land development expenditure 315,930 (1,834)
Increase in properties for sale (705,348) (2,422,000)
Increase in deposits paid for acquisition of land use rights (44,392) (260,544)
Increase in trade and other receivables (267,137) (145,613)
Increase in amounts due from customers for contract works (29,477) (18,401)
Increase in amount due from a related party (1,124) –
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to customers for contract works 8,946 (46,123)
Increase in trade and other payables 861,845 2,237,813
Increase (decrease) in deposits received for sale of properties 1,621,602 (1,198,314)   

Cash generated from operations 3,605,471 48,777
Income tax paid (521,660) (766,398)
Interest paid (1,120,405) (1,025,521)   

NET CASH FROM (USD IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,963,406 (1,743,142)   
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For the year ended 31 December 2015

Creating Value with Aspirations.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Deposit paid for acquisition of a property project (4,298) (4,302)
Increase in restricted/pledged bank deposits (421,886) (81,739)
Settlement of consideration payables on acquisition of assets and liabilities 

through acquisitions of subsidiaries and acquisition of businesses (861,585) (19,462)
Settlement of consideration receivables of disposal of subsidiaries 492,856 205,369
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (423,925) (569,531)
Additions to investment properties (604,318) (652,727)
Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through acquisitions of subsidiaries (net 

of cash and cash equivalents acquired) 45(a) (46,019) (189,846)
Acquisition of businesses (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) 45(b) (529,020) (39,788)
Capital injection to an associate (4,410) (490)
Proceeds received upon derecognition of a joint venture – 19,449
Bank interest received 30,127 23,351
Dividend received from an associate – 359
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 121,222 14,998
Disposal of subsidiaries 46(a) 1,432,479 54,453
Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries resulting in loss of control 46(c) – (28,128)
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries (37,164) (212,550)
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 10,673 12,214
Purchase of financial assets designated as at FVTPL (74,558) –
Redemption of financial assets designated as at FVTPL 109,958 –
Acquisition of investments in joint ventures – (361,731)
Advance to a related party (183,658) (10,665)
Advance to a joint venture (30,403) –
Repayment from a joint venture – 10,020 

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,023,929) (1,830,746)   
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For the year ended 31 December 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000    

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from the issuance of senior notes and bonds 3,211,284 1,801,274
Net proceeds from Share Offer of Colour Life – 710,214
Net proceeds from issuance of perpetual capital instrument – 700,000
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders 4,500 2,108
New borrowings raised 1,582,989 7,856,159
Repayment of borrowings (5,768,914) (6,856,676)
Repayment of senior notes (795,926) –
Distribution to an owner of perpetual capital instrument (63,875) (32,025)
Dividend paid to shareholders of the Company (245,012) (306,054)
Repayment to a related party – (506)
Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries 45(c) (48,870) (239,855)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (27,181) (32,120)
Proceed from disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries without 

loss of control 46(b) 301,500 36,990
Issue of share upon exercise of share option 3,160 81
Advances from a joint venture 440,836 897,209
Repayment to a joint venture (403,387) –    

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,808,896) 4,536,799    

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS (869,419) 962,911

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF 
THE YEAR 3,738,040 2,776,879

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 12,890 (1,750)    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR, 
represented by bank balances and cash 2,881,511 3,738,040    
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For the year ended 31 December 2015

Creating Value with Aspirations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

94  95

1. General

The Company is a limited company incorporated in Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”). Its parent and its ultimate parent are Fantasy Pearl International Limited and Ice Apex 
Limited, respectively, both being limited liability companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). Its 
ultimate controlling shareholder is Ms. Zeng Jie, Baby, who is a director of the Company. The addresses of the registered 
office and principal place of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in 
note 54.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the functional currency of the 
Company.

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following new and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle

The application of the above new and revised amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on 
the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these 
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts2

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative3

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation3

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle3

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture4

Amendments to HKFRS 10, 
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
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For the year ended 31 December 2015

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 
(continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 
9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
and for derecognition, and in 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised 
version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial assets and b) limited 
amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other comprehensive 
income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9:

• all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement” are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments 
that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have 
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally 
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a 
business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, 
and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are generally measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments 
and equity investments are measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, 
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an 
equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally 
recognised in profit or loss.

• with regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9 
requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the 
credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes 
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit 
or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit 
or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

• in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an 
incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected 
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since 
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are 
recognised.

• the new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently 
available in HKAS 39. Under HKFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible 
for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the 
types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the retrospective 
quantitative effectiveness test has been removed. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management 
activities have also been introduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Application of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 
(continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact on 
amount reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide 
a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 9 until the group undertakes a detailed review.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with Customer”
HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising 
from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 
“Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations when it becomes effective. The core principle 
of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers 
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for goods and services. 
Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of 
the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive 
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by 
HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company anticipates that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may affect the amounts reported 
and related disclosures. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the 
Group performs a detailed review.

Except for the above impact, the Directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of other new and revised 
HKFRSs will not have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
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For the year ended 31 December 2015

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the stock exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”).

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap 622) regarding preparation of accounts and directors’
reports and audits became effective for the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. Further, the
disclosure requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding annual accounts have been amended with reference to the
new CO and to streamline with HKFRSs. Accordingly, the presentation and disclosure of information in the consolidated
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 have been changed to comply with these new
requirements. Comparative information in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2014 are presented or disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements based on the new requirements. Information previously required to be disclosed
under the predecessor CO or Listing Rules but not under the new CO or amended Listing Rules are not disclosed in these
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain properties and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting 
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are 
sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote 
holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct 
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ 
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses 
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date of the Group gains 
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to 
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line 
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the 
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Basis of consolidation (continued)
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount 
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) 
the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 
interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for 
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary. The fair value of any investment 
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or 
a joint venture.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued 
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except 
that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and 
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits respectively”;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangement of the acquire or share-based payment 
arrangement of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in 
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests 
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of 
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of 
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis 
is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, 
when applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from 
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and 
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination.

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted 
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are 
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one 
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement 
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified 
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in 
accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, as appropriate, with the 
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see 
the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash 
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when 
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its 
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit 
and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any 
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of 
the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for the goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described below.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net 
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists 
only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity 
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events 
in similar circumstances. The associate and joint venture uses accounting policies that differ from those of the Group for 
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Appropriate adjustments have been made to conform the associate’s 
and the joint venture’s accounting policies to those of the Group. Under the equity method, and investment in an associate 
or a joint venture are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter 
to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. When 
the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture 
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint 
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent 
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the 
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any 
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the 
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset 
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. 
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is 
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the 
extent of interest in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer 
returns, rebates and other similar allowances.
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Sales of properties
Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of business is recognised when the respective properties have been 
completed and delivered to the buyers. Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to meeting the above 
criteria for revenue recognition are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Agency fee, service income, management fee, parking fee and consultation fee
Agency fee, service income, management fee, parking fee and consultation fee are recognised when services are provided.

The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from construction services is described in the accounting policy for construct 
in contracts below.

Hotel operation
Revenue from hotel accommodation, hotel management and related services, food and beverage sales and other ancillary 
services is recognised when the services are rendered.

Interest income
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in the accounting policy for 
leasing below.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for 
administrative purposes (other than properties under construction as described below) are stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any 
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate categories of property, 
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other 
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other than properties under construction) less their residual 
values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has changed as evidenced by 
end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer 
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or 
retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, 
when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under 
construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value 
of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of 
the investment properties under construction.

Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property is classified as investment property. If 
the fair value cannot be reliably determined, the investment property under development will be measured at cost until such 
time as fair value can be determined or construction is completed.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use 
and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit 
or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Land development expenditure
Land development expenditure is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost includes expenditure directly 
attributable to the development of relevant projects such as road construction, demolition, resettlement work and borrowing 
cost.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at 
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported at 
costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. 
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Properties for sale
Completed properties and properties under development for sale in the ordinary course of business are included in current
assets and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of land, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, and other attributable expenses. Cost of each
unit in each phase of development is determined using the weighted average method.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for properties for sale less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment property when there is a change of intention to hold the
property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is
evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to another party. Any difference between the fair value of the
property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair values of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: loans and receivables, financial assets designated as at
FVTPL and available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries 
and a property project, other receivables (non-current), trade and other receivables, amounts due a from joint venture and 
related parties, financial assets designated as at FVTPL, restricted/pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition 
of interest would be immaterial.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an 
acquirer as part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at 
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together 
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading or contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as 
part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
arise; or

• the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or 
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined 
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

– F-375 –



106  107

For the year ended 31 December 2015

Creating Value with Aspirations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or 
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets and is 
included in the other income, gains and losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets
AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a) loans and 
receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is 
established.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably 
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are 
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in 
respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered 
to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to 
be objective evidence of impairment.

For other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest and principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, 
in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables 
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the 
portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate 
with default on receivables.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When trade 
receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited to profit or loss. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised 
in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the 
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through 
profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual capital instruments with no contracted obligation to repay its principal or to pay any distribution are classified as 
part of equity.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Senior notes and bonds
Senior notes and bonds issued by the Group that contain both liability and early redemption option (which is not closely 
related to the host contract) are classified separately into respective items on initial recognition. At the date of issue, both 
the liability and early redemption option components are recognised at fair value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the senior notes and bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. The early redemption option and put option are measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior notes and bonds are allocated to the liability and early redemption 
option components in proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to the early redemption option 
are charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying 
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the senior notes and bonds using the effective interest 
method.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amount due to a non-controlling shareholder, amounts due 
to joint ventures, obligations under finance leases and borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are deemed as financial assets or liabilities held 
for trading and measured at fair value. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the dates derivative contracts are 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Financial liabilities arising from put options
Put option granted to corporate holders, which will be settled other than by exchange of fixed amount of cash for a fixed 
number of shares is treated as derivative and recognised at fair value upon initial recognition. Any changes of fair value in 
subsequent reporting dates are recognised in profit or loss.

If the put option expires unexercised, the liability is derecognised and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately.

– F-378 –



For the year ended 31 December 2015

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at 
FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”; and

(ii) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the 
revenue recognition policies.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it 
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on tangible assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (see accounting policy in respect of goodwill 
above)
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite 
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if 
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can 
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the 
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (see accounting policy in respect of goodwill 
above) (continued)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) 
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Construction contracts
Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to 
the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured based on the proportion that 
contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs, except where this would not 
be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the 
extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent 
of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in 
which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense 
immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus 
is shown as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs 
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for contract 
work. Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated statement of financial 
position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are 
included in the consolidated statement of financial position under trade and other receivables.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as 
expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary 
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred 
revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis 
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they become receivable.
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Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in
the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
general policy on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy above). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building
When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of
the leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leasing (continued)
Leasehold land and building (continued)
To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an 
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised 
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are classified and accounted for as investment properties 
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, 
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Prepaid lease payments
The prepaid lease payments represent upfront payments for land use rights for the purpose of development of properties for 
sale or for use in the production or supply of goods or services, and are initially recognised at cost and released to profit or 
loss over the remaining lease term on a straight-line basis. The prepaid lease payments in respect of development of projects 
for sale whereby the construction work is expected to complete beyond normal operating cycle are classified under non-
current assets.

Premium on prepaid lease payments
The premium on prepaid lease payments represent the excess of the consideration paid over the carrying amount of the 
prepaid lease payments in respect of leasehold lands in the PRC acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries and released 
to profit or loss over the remaining lease term on a straight-line basis. The premium on prepaid lease payments in respect 
of projects whereby the construction work is expected to complete beyond normal operating cycle are classified under non-
current assets.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that 
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from 
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and 
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured using 
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless 
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within 
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment 
property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting 
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an 
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of the entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of transactions. At 
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for 
exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which 
are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency 
borrowings.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services
received is determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss. When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will continue to be held in share options reserve.

4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management has made in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in
measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors have determined that the presumption that
the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted.
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under development for sale and completed properties for sale
Properties under development for sale and completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB21,801,648,000 (2014: RMB19,442,516,000). Cost, 
including the cost of land, development expenditure, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting 
policy and other attributable expenses, are allocated to each unit in each phase based on saleable gross floor area, using the 
weighted average method. The net realisable value is the estimated selling price less estimated selling expenses and estimated 
cost of completion (if any), which are determined based on best available information. Where there is any decrease in the 
estimated selling price arising from any changes to the property market conditions in the PRC, there may be write-down on 
the properties under development for sale and completed properties for sale.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)
The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However, the implementation and settlement of the tax varies amongst different 
tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and certain projects of the Group have not finalised their land appreciation 
tax calculations and payments with any local tax authorities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant estimate is required in 
determining the amount of land appreciation and its related income tax provisions. The Group recognised the LAT based 
on management’s best estimates. The final tax outcome could be different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
and these differences will impact the income tax expense and the related income tax provisions in the periods in which such 
tax is finalised with local tax authorities.

As explained in above, the carrying amounts of investment properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, as 
such deferred tax charge on the fair value change of investment properties has taken into account the LAT payable upon the 
disposal of these properties.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit or taxable 
temporary difference will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management estimation is required 
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future 
taxable profits or taxable temporary difference together with future tax planning strategies.

Recognition and allocation of construction costs on properties under development
Development costs of properties are recorded as properties under development during the construction stage and will 
be transferred to completed properties for sale and charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income upon the recognition of the sales of the properties. Before the final settlement of the development 
costs and other costs relating to the sale of the properties, these costs are accrued by the Group based on management’s best 
estimate. During the development stage, the Group typically divides the development projects into phases. Costs that are 
common to different phases are allocated to individual phases based on saleable area. Where the final settlement of costs and 
the related cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any increase or decrease in the development costs and other 
costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of trade receivables
When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. 
The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual future cash 
flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of trade 
receivable is RMB1,317,151,000 (2014: carrying amount of RMB1,034,555,000).

Estimated impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which 
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to 
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual 
future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying 
amount of goodwill net of accumulated impairment loss was approximately RMB733,549,000 (2014: carrying amount of 
RMB133,918,000).

Estimated impairment of intangible assets
Determining whether intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to 
which intangible assets have been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows 
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where 
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2015, the 
carrying amount of intangible assets net of accumulated impairment loss was RMB204,474,000 (2014: RMB26,850,000).

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
The investment properties of the Group are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The board of directors 
of the Company has set up a valuation team, which is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, to 
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an investment property, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. 
The Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The valuation team works closely with the 
qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial 
Officer reports the valuation team’s findings to the board of directors of the Company periodically to explain the cause of 
fluctuations in the fair value of the investment properties. The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are 
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain types of investment properties. Note 16 provides 
detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value 
of investment properties of the Group.
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5. Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from prior year. The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes 
amounts due to joint ventures as disclosed in note 38, amount due to a non-controlling shareholder as disclosed in note 37, 
borrowings as disclosed in note 39, obligations under finance leases disclosed in note 40, senior notes and bonds as disclosed 
in note 41, net of the cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital 
and reserves. In managing the Group’s capital structure, the management will also monitor the utilisation of bank and other 
borrowings to ensure compliance with financial covenants.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically. As a part of this review, the corporate finance 
department reviews the planned construction projects proposed by engineering department and prepares the annual budget 
taking into account of the provision of funding and considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of 
capital, the Group does not have any target gearing ratio.

The directors of the Company then assess the annual budget and consider the cost of capital and the risks associated 
with each class of capital. The directors of the Company also balance its overall capital structure through the payment of 
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

6. Financial Instruments

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 9,357,511 7,725,618
AFS investment – 38,910
Financial assets designated as at FVTPL 19,200 –   

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 20,972,906 21,810,703
Derivative financial instruments 22,673 –   

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries, a property project and 
land use rights, trade and other receivables, finance lease receivables, amounts due from related parties and a joint 
venture, financial assets designated as at FVTPL, restricted/pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade 
and other payables, amounts due to a non-controlling shareholder and joint ventures, borrowings, obligations under 
finance leases, senior notes and bonds and derivative financial instruments. Details of these financial instruments are 
disclosed in respective notes.

The management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal 
risk assessment which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. The risks included market risk (including 
foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these 
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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6. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(i) Currency risk

The Group has bank balances, borrowings, obligations under finance leases and senior notes which are 
denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant group entities, hence is exposed to exchange rate fluctuations.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at 
the respective reporting periods are as follow:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Assets
United States Dollars (“USD”) 24,247 60,413
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”) 84,189 318,722
Singapore Dollars (“SGD”) 185,076 150,098
Japanese Yan (“JPY”) 1,434 3,366   

Liabilities
USD 6,979,458 6,904,709
HKD – 85,251
JPY 39,530 42,413   

The Group currently does not enter into any derivative contracts to minimise the currency risk exposure. 
However, the management will consider hedging significant currency risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group mainly exposes to the effects of fluctuation in USD, HKD, SGD and JPY against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% (2014: 10%) increase and decrease in the RMB 
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% (2014: 10%) is the sensitivity rate used in the current year when 
reporting foreign currency risk internally to management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary 
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 10% (2014: 10%) change in foreign currency rates. 
The sensitivity analysis includes bank balances, borrowings, obligations under finance leases and senior notes. 
A positive number indicates an increase in profit for the year where the RMB strengthens 10% (2014: 10%) 
against the relevant currencies. For a 10% (2014: 10%) weakening of the RMB against the relevant currencies, 
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit, and the balances below would be negative.
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(i) Currency risk (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

USD
Increase in profit for the year 671,521 513,322   

HKD
Decrease in profit for the year (8,419) (17,510)   

SGD
Decrease in profit for the year 17,544 14,968   

JPY
Increase in profit for the year 3,810 2,929   

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as 
the year end exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate 
on bank balances and variable-rate borrowings.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk which relates primarily to its fixed-rate borrowings, 
obligations under finance leases, senior notes and bonds. The Group currently does not use any derivative 
contracts to hedge its loans to interest rate risk. However, the management will consider hedging significant 
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management 
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of 
the London Interbank Offer Rate (“LIBOR”) arising from the Group’s USD borrowings, the Hong Kong 
Interbank Offer Rate (“HIBOR”) arising from the Group’s HKD borrowings and Benchmark Borrowing Rate 
of The People’s Bank of China (“Benchmark Rate”) from the Group’s RMB borrowings.
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6. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
Bank balances and restricted/pledged bank deposits
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for the bank balances 
and restricted/pledged bank deposits at the end of the reporting period. A 25 basis points (2014: 25 basis 
points) increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel 
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 25 basis points (2014: 25 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were held 
constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2015 would increase/decrease by RMB9,212,000 
(2014: increase/decrease of RMB8,724,000).

Variable-rate borrowings
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for the variable-rate 
borrowings at the end of the reporting period. A 50 basis points (2014: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is 
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2014: 50 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables 
were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2015 would decrease/increase by 
RMB11,605,000 (2014: decrease/increase of RMB20,421,000), net of interest that would be capitalised in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

(iii) Credit risk
As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the 
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by the 
Group is arising from:

• the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement 
of financial position; and

• the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in 
note 51(i).
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in place for determination of credit limits, credit 
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue 
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the 
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, 
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on trade receivables, with exposure spread over a 
number of counterparties and customers.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has concentration of credit risk on the deposits paid for acquisition of 
subsidiaries, a property project and land use rights and amounts due from related parties and a joint venture. 
These balances are paid to counterparties which are all engaged in PRC property development business and 
property operation service, and are either state-owned entities or companies with high credit rating, the 
directors of the Company consider that the credit risk is limited.

The Group’s credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings 
and good reputation established in the PRC and Hong Kong.

For properties under development which are subject to pre-sales agreements, the Group generally typically 
provides guarantees to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to finance their 
purchase of the properties for an amount up to 70% of the total purchase price of the property. If a purchaser 
defaults on the payment of its mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may 
demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and any accrued interest thereon. Under such 
circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit the customer’s purchase deposit and sell the property to recover 
any amounts paid by the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the 
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

(iv) Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations 
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance with loan 
covenants.

The Group relies on amounts due to joint ventures, borrowings, obligations under finance leases, senior notes 
and bonds as a significant source of liquidity.
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6. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on 
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on 
demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to 
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed 
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the 
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity table

Weighted
average

effective
interest rate

On demand
or less than

1 month
1–3

months

3 months
to

1 year
1–5

years
Over

5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Carrying
amount

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000         

At 31 December 2015
Trade and other payables – 1,553,323 1,414,284 1,251,617 1,395,775 – 5,614,999 5,614,999
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder 10.58 390,199 – – 360,438 – 750,637 719,920
Amounts due to joint ventures – 1,033,916 – – – – 1,033,916 1,033,916
Borrowings

– fixed rate 9.94 36,783 549 2,469 803,155 40,462 883,418 869,702
– variable rate 6.76 1,126,593 50,153 225,690 1,677,556 60,345 3,140,337 3,094,710

Obligations under finance leases 4.16 775 5,525 20,881 97,473 16,920 141,574 127,080
Senior notes and bonds 10.40 190,797 1,225,707 516,129 10,627,125 – 12,559,758 9,512,579
Financial guarantee contracts – 6,441,957 – – – – 6,441,957 –         

10,774,343 2,696,218 2,016,786 14,961,522 117,727 30,566,596 20,972,906         

At 31 December 2014
Trade and other payables – 1,537,773 1,208,257 981,732 1,296,740 – 5,024,502 5,024,502
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder 10.58 419,960 – – 750,638 – 1,170,598 1,106,627
Amounts due to joint ventures – 996,467 – – – – 996,467 996,467
Borrowings

– fixed rate 9.50 704,450 907,858 290,483 295,944 339,174 2,537,909 2,328,927
– variable rate 7.48 763,320 227,754 1,709,395 3,203,810 330,574 6,234,853 5,445,473

Obligations under finance leases 4.16 730 5,423 20,082 96,284 37,771 160,290 140,575
Senior notes 12.05 82,224 105,170 2,082,441 7,603,460 82,224 9,955,519 6,768,132
Financial guarantee contracts – 4,778,135 – – – – 4,778,135 –         

9,283,059 2,454,462 5,084,133 13,246,876 789,743 30,858,273 21,810,703         

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” 
time band in the above maturity analysis. However, as at 31 December 2015 and 2014, there is no such kind 
of bank borrowings.
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6. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could 
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the 
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers 
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate 
is subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a 
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer 
credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is 
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the 
end of the reporting period.

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally accepted 
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

• The fair value of financial guarantee contracts at initial recognition is determined to be insignificant, using 
option pricing models where the main assumptions are the probability of default by the specified counterparty 
extrapolated from market-based credit information and the amount of loss, given the default; and

• The fair value of derivative instruments is calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, 
fair value determined based on the discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve for the 
duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives.

Except for the following financial liabilities, the directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

2015 2015 2014 2014
Fair value
hierarchy

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Senior notes and bonds Level 1 9,512,579 9,738,192 6,768,132 6,333,896
Derivative financial instrument Level 3 22,673 22,673 – –      

– F-393 –



124  125

For the year ended 31 December 2015

Creating Value with Aspirations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. Revenue and Segment Information

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Sales of properties 6,562,066 6,535,319
Rental income 182,886 136,462
Agency fee from provision of property agency services 24,476 18,653
Management fee and installation services fee from provision of 

property operation services 1,270,014 504,243
Hotel operations 121,620 111,273
Others 3,235 – 

8,164,297 7,305,950

The segment information reported externally was analysed on the basis of the different products and services supplied by 
the Group’s operating divisions which is consistent with the internal information that are regularly reviewed by the directors 
of the Company, the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of performance. 
This is also the basis of organisation in the Group, whereby the management has chosen to organise the Group around 
differences in products and services. No operating segments identified by the chief operating decision maker have been 
aggregated in arriving at the operating and reportable segments of the Group.

The Group has six reportable and operating segments as follows:

Property development – developing and selling of commercial and residential properties in the PRC
Property investment – leasing of commercial and residential properties
Property agency services – provision of property agency and other related services
Property operation services – provision of property management, installation of security systems and other

related services
Hotel operation – provision of hotel accommodation, hotel management and related services,

food and beverage sale and other ancillary services
Others – provision of travel agency services

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described 
in note 3. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of central administration costs 
and directors’ salaries, interest income, exchange gain/loss, share of results of associates and joint ventures, gain on disposal 
of subsidiaries, finance costs and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision makers 
for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the chief operating 
decision makers also review the segment assets attributable to each operating segment, which comprises assets other than 
interests in associates and joint ventures, available-for-sale investments,  amount due from a joint venture and related 
parties, financial assets designed as at FVTPL, restricted/pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash and other corporate 
assets.
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7. Revenue and Segment Information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results and other material items by operating and reportable segment
under review:

For 31 December 2015

Property 
development

Property 
investment

Property 
agency 

services

Property 
operation 

services
Hotel 

operations Others Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

External revenues 6,562,066 182,886 24,476 1,270,014 121,620 3,235 8,164,297 

Inter-segment revenues 16,979 – – 107,361 – – 124,340 

Segment results 1,420,638 829,649 22,148 381,102 (9,270) 289 2,644,556 

Segment assets 28,569,770 6,985,732 14,890 1,827,971 1,252,412 285,500 38,936,275 

Amounts included in the measure of 
segment profit or loss or 
segment assets:

Additions to non-current assets (note) 99,563 932,377 – 805,352 237,356 364,117 2,438,765
Change in fair value of 

investment properties – 713,922 – – – – 713,922
Recognition of change in fair value of 

completed properties for sale upon 
transfer to investment properties 175,922 – – – – – 175,922

Release of prepaid lease payments 13,879 – – – 1,973 – 15,852
Release of premium on 

prepaid lease payments 3,678 – – – – – 3,678
Amortisation of intangible assets – – – 13,004 – – 13,004
Depreciation of property, 

plant and equipment 36,887 4,185 155 28,764 55,759 – 125,750
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 286 – – (604) 487 – 169
Allowance on bad and 

doubtful debts, net 14,877 – – 29,627 – – 44,504

Inter-segment revenues are charged at prevailing market rate.
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7. Revenue and Segment Information (continued)

Segment revenues, results, assets and other material items for 31 December 2014:

Property
development

Property
investment

Property
agency

services

Property
operation

services
Hotel

operations Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

External revenues 6,535,319 136,462 18,653 504,243 111,273 7,305,950  

Inter-segment revenues 147,775 – – 90,238 – 238,013  

Segment result 1,854,053 637,038 17,234 299,063 5,323 2,812,711 

Segment assets 26,161,619 6,875,227 11,731 1,203,359 955,256 35,207,192 

Amounts included in the measure of 
segment profit or loss or segment assets:

Additions to non-current assets (note) 73,249 2,139,128 689 10,594 623,839 2,847,499
Change in fair value of investment properties – 575,840 – – – 575,840
Recognition of change in fair value of 

completed properties for sale upon 
transfer to investment properties 95,665 – – – – 95,665

Release of prepaid lease payments 22,308 – – – 1,937 24,245
Release of premium on 

prepaid lease payments 22,910 – – – – 22,910
Amortisation of intangible assets – – – 3,505 – 3,505
Depreciation of property, 

plant and equipment 21,496 6,475 – 8,639 54,046 90,656
Gain on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 321 – – – – 321 
Reversal of allowance on bad and 

doubtful debts, net 28,599 – – 11,054 – 39,653

Inter-segment revenues are charged at prevailing market rate.

Note: Additions to non-current assets comprise mainly additions to goodwill, property, plant and equipment and investment properties and exclude interests 
in associates and joint ventures, deposits paid for acquisition of land use rights, acquisition of subsidiaries and acquisition of a property project and 
deferred tax assets.
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7. Revenue and Segment Information (continued)

Reconciliation:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Revenue:
Total revenue for operating and reportable segments 8,288,637 7,543,963
Elimination of inter-segment revenues (124,340) (238,013)   
Group’s total revenues 8,164,297 7,305,950   

Total segment results 2,644,556 2,812,711
Elimination of inter-segment result (20,720) (68,860)
Unallocated amounts:

Bank interest income 30,127 23,351
Net exchange loss (233,559) (50,514)
Change in fair value of option derivatives 6,917 –
Share-based payment expenses (90,923) (33,133)
Unallocated corporate expenses (96,041) (73,988)
Finance costs (302,340) (290,948)
Share of results of associates 626 56
Share of results of joint ventures (7,324) (12,663)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries 790,039 223,707   

Profit before tax 2,721,358 2,529,719   

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Assets:
Total assets for operating and reportable segments 38,936,275 35,207,192
Unallocated assets:

Interests in associates 6,789 1,753
Interests in joint ventures 410,044 609,981
Financial assets designated as at FVTPL 19,200 –
Available-for-sale investment – 38,910
Amounts due from related parties 184,782 –
Restricted/pledged bank deposits 1,336,482 914,596
Amount due from a joint venture 180,258 149,855
Bank balances and cash 2,881,511 3,738,040
Corporate assets 595,947 593,753   

Group’s total assets 44,551,288 41,254,080   

The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived solely from its operations in the PRC, and non-current assets of the 
Group are mainly located in the PRC.

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, there was no revenue from transactions with a single external 
customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.
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7. Revenue and Segment Information (continued)

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Additions to non-current assets
Reportable segment totals 2,438,765 2,847,499
Unallocated amount 6,747 8,864   
Group’s total 2,445,512 2,856,363   
Other material items:
Release of prepaid lease payments
Reportable segment totals 15,852 24,245
Unallocated amount – 343   

15,852 24,588   
Release of premium on prepaid lease payments
Reportable segment and Group’s totals 3,678 22,910   
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Reportable segment totals 125,750 90,656
Unallocated amount 4,463 439   
Group’s total 130,213 91,095   
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Reportable segment and Group’s totals 169 321   
Allowance (reversal) on bad and doubtful debt, net 
Reportable segment and Group’s totals 44,504 39,653   
Amortisation of intangible assets
Reportable Segment and Group’s totals 13,004 3,505   

8. Other Income, Gains and Losses

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Bank interest income 30,127 23,351
Change in fair value of option derivatives 6,917 –
Investment income from land development (note a) 67,239 –
Change in fair value of financial assets designated as at FVTPL 442 –
Unconditional government grants (note b) 10,223 571
Net exchange loss (233,559) (50,514)
Others 10,251 13,291   

(108,360) (13,301)   

Notes:

(a) The amount represents the project management income from the People’s Government of Chengdu (“Chengdu Government”) for the Land 
Development Project.

(b) The amount represents the grants received from the relevant PRC local governments to encourage the development of real estate industry and property 
management industry. The subsidies are unconditional and granted to the group on a discretionary basis.
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9. Finance Costs

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Interest on:
– bank and other loans 383,066 369,496
– senior notes and bonds 887,481 768,529
– finance leases 4,447 8,759
– redeemable shares – 655
– amount due to a non-controlling shareholder 48,581 141,099   

1,323,575 1,288,538
Less: Amount capitalised in properties under development for sale (812,774) (953,941)

Amount capitalised in investment properties under construction (186,155) (4,123)
Amount capitalised in construction in progress (22,306) (39,526)   

302,340 290,948   

In 2015, certain amount of borrowing costs capitalised arose on the general borrowing pool and were calculated by applying 
the capitalisation rate of 13.8% per annum (2014: 11.76% per annum) to expenditures on qualifying assets.

10. Profit Before Tax

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Directors’ emoluments (note 12) 17,344 20,274 
Other staff’s salaries and allowances 443,896 346,743 
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 76,998 62,003 
Share-based payments 90,327 30,548   
Total staff costs 628,565 456,783
Less: Amount capitalised in properties under development for sale (206,042) (167,094)   

422,523 289,689   
Auditor’s remuneration 5,966 5,853
Release of prepaid lease payments 15,852 24,588
Release of premium on prepaid lease payments 3,678 22,910
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 130,213 91,095
Amortisation of intangible assets 13,004 3,505
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (169) (321)
Allowance on bad and doubtful debts, net 44,504 39,653
Listing expense of a non-wholly own subsidiary of the Company – 16,282
Cost of properties sold recognised as an expense 4,726,772 4,091,116
Contract cost recognised as an expense 30,981 24,878
Rental expenses in respect of rented premises under operating leases 21,088 13,893

Gross rental income from investment properties (182,886) (136,462)
Less: direct operating expenses from investment properties that 

generated rental income 11,722 9,784   
(171,164) (126,678)   
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11. Income Tax Expense

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Current tax:

PRC taxes
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) 732,318 538,665
Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) 342,468 382,487   

1,074,786 921,152
Deferred tax

Current year 243,756 236,256   

1,318,542 1,157,408   

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the income of the 
Group neither arises in nor is derived from Hong Kong.

The Group’s PRC enterprise income tax is calculated based on the applicable tax rate on assessable profits, if applicable.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of 
properties less deductible expenditures including cost of land use rights and all property development expenditures.
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11. Income Tax Expense (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000    

Profit before tax 2,721,358 2,529,719    

Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% (2014: 25%) (a) 680,340 632,430
Tax effect of share of results of associates (157) (14)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures 1,831 3,166
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (7,765) (143)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose (b) 161,399 90,602
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 346,774 144,938
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (5,451) (17,672)
LAT 342,468 382,487
Tax effect of LAT (85,617) (95,622)
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other 

jurisdictions (110,382) (3,789)
Tax effect of tax rate differential of a PRC subsidiary (c) (6,494) –
Others (d) 1,596 21,025    

Income tax expense for the year 1,318,542 1,157,408    

Notes:

(a) Majority of the assessable profits of the Group were derived from subsidiaries situated in the PRC and the applicable enterprise income tax rate of 
those subsidiaries is 25%.

(b) The amounts for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 mainly relate to the tax effect of expenses incurred by offshore companies, including 
the interest on senior notes, share option expense, exchange loss and professional fees.

(c) Under the law of Enterprise Income Tax and Implementation Rules of the People’s Republic of China and approved by tax bureau, a PRC subsidiary is 
subject to statutory enterprise income tax beard on its respective deemed taxable income, which is at 10% of revenue in accordance with the applicable 
PRC tax regulations.

(d) The amounts for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 mainly represent the tax effect of LAT on change in fair value of the Group’s 
investment properties in the PRC upon sales of those investment properties.
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12. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’ Remunerations

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and the chief executive disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules
and CO were as follows:

Fees

Salaries
and other

benefits
Discretionary

bonus

Retirement
benefit scheme

contributions
Share-based 

payments Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

For the year ended 
31 December 2015

Executive directors:
Pan Jun (潘軍) (note i) – 3,940 220 54 188 4,402
Zeng Jie (曾寶寶) – 3,940 220 54 188 4,402
Lam Kam Tong (林錦堂) – 2,312 403 – 104 2,819
Zhou Jinquan (周錦泉) – 1,586 384 60 – 2,030
Wang Liang (王亮) (note ii) – 1,662 252 42 52 2,008

Non-executive directors:
Li Dongsheng (李東生) (note iii) 240 – – – – 240
Yuan Haodong (袁浩東) (note iii) 240 – – – – 240

Independent non-executive directors:
He Min (何敏) 240 – – – 30 270
Huang Ming (黃明) 240 – – – 30 270
Xu Quan (許權) (note v) 32 – – – 4 36
Liao Jianwen (廖建文) (note vi) 209 – – – – 209
Wong Pui Sze (王沛詩) (note vi) 209 – – – – 209
Guo Shaomu (郭少牧) (note vi) 209 – – – – 209

1,619 13,440 1,479 210 596 17,344

For the year ended 
31 December 2014

Executive directors:
Pan Jun (潘軍) (note i) – 2,442 – 54 746 3,242
Zeng Jie (曾寶寶) – 2,506 – 53 746 3,305
Lam Kam Tong (林錦堂) – 1,733 2,060 – 229 4,022
Zhou Jinquan (周錦泉) – 1,644 2,028 54 – 3,726
Wang Liang (王亮) (note ii) – 1,718 1,936 54 384 4,092

Non-executive directors:
Li Dongsheng (李東生) (note iii) 240 – – – – 240
Yuan Haodong (袁浩東) (note iii) 240 – – – – 240

Independent non-executive directors:
He Min (何敏) 240 – – – 120 360
Huang Ming (黃明) 240 – – – 120 360
Liao Changjiang (廖長江) (note iv) 211 – – – 120 331
Xu Quan (許權) 240 – – – 120 360

1,411 10,043 6,024 215 2,585 20,278
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12. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’ Remunerations (continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Pan Jun is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the Chief
Executive.

(ii) Appointed on 6 January 2014 and resigned on 30 June 2015.

(iii) Appointed on 6 January 2014.

(iv) Resigned on 18 November 2014.

(v) Resigned on 17 February 2015.

(vi) Appointed on 17 February 2015.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in connection with the management of the 
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were manly for their services as directors of the Company or its 
subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the 
Company.

The discretionary bonus is determined by the Board of Directors based on the Group’s performance for each financial year.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during 
the year.

Five highest paid employees
The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group included 3 (2014: 5) directors for the year ended 31 
December 2015. Details of their emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining 2 (2014: nil) of the five 
highest paid individuals are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and allowances 5,530 –
Discretionary bonus 549 –
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 72 –
Share-based payments 104 – 

6,255 –
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12. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’ Remunerations (continued)

Five highest paid employees (continued)
Their emoluments were within the following band:

2015 2014
No. of employees No. of employees  

HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 1 –
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 1 – 

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, no remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the directors and 
Chief Executive or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation 
for loss of office. None of the directors and Chief Executive waived any remuneration for the years ended 31 December 
2015 and 2014.

13. Dividends

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:
2014 Final – HK5.39 cents 

(2014: 2013 final dividend HK6.68 cents) per share 245,012 306,054

Note: Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015 of HK5.00 cents, equivalent to 
RMB4.19 cents (2014: final dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 of HK5.39 cents, equivalent to RMB4.36 cents) per share 
amounting to approximately RMB241,330,000 has been proposed by the directors for approval by the shareholders in the annual general meeting.
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14. Earnings Per Share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Earnings
Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share 

(Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company) 1,210,610 1,255,341

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Share options – Colour Life (40) –   

Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 1,210,570 1,255,341   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 

basic earnings per share 5,759,214,304 5,743,200,974

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
Share options 4,122,311 5,218,237   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
diluted earnings per share 5,763,336,615 5,748,419,211   
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment

Hotel
buildings Buildings

Renovations
and leasehold

improvements

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment

Transportation
equipment

Construction
in

progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST
At 1 January 2014 418,925 135,114 35,950 113,682 262,615 92,348 1,058,634
Transfer from properties for sale 91,509 – – – – – 91,509
Transfer from investment properties (note 16) – 33,130 – – – – 33,130
Additions 237,000 10,010 52,464 27,054 12,086 270,443 609,057
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45(a) and (b)) – 3,314 4,266 5,223 2,249 – 15,052
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 46(a) and (b)) – – – (937) (444) – (1,381)
Transfer to investment properties (Note) (5,009) (155) – – – – (5,164)
Disposals – – (6,050) (21,767) (1,723) – (29,540) 
At 31 December 2014 742,425 181,413 86,630 123,255 274,783 362,791 1,771,297
Transfer from properties for sale 54,565 – – – – – 54,565
Transfer from investment properties (note 16) – 4,343 – – – – 4,343
Transfer upon completion 449,091 – – 45,658 – (494,749) –
Additions – – 78,366 47,635 16,497 303,733 446,231
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45(a) and (b)) – 87,671 2,956 8,089 1,956 – 100,672
Transfer to investment properties (Note) (14,404) (33,649) – – – – (48,053)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 46(a)) (113,889) – – – – – (113,889)
Disposals (115,202) (2,614) (315) (10,186) (2,018) – (130,335) 
At 31 December 2015 1,002,586 237,164 167,637 214,451 291,218 171,775 2,084,831 
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2014 42,425 22,520 21,765 49,483 17,200 – 153,393
Provided for the year 22,956 21,489 8,133 2,759 35,758 – 91,095
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries 

(note 46(a)) – – – (88) (40) – (128)
Eliminated on disposals – (656) (740) (11,607) (1,860) – (14,863)
Transfer to investment properties (Note) (82) – – – – – (82) 
At 31 December 2014 65,299 43,353 29,158 40,547 51,058 – 229,415
Provided for the year 26,279 36,998 15,201 31,224 20,511 – 130,213
Transfer to investment properties (Note) (2,366) – – – – – (2,366)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries 

(note 46(a)) (30,018) – – – – – (30,018)
Eliminated on disposals (2,503) (48) (315) (4,702) (1,714) – (9,282) 
At 31 December 2015 56,691 80,303 44,044 67,069 69,855 – 317,962 
CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2015 945,895 156,861 123,593 147,382 221,363 171,775 1,766,869 
At 31 December 2014 677,126 138,060 57,472 82,708 223,725 362,791 1,541,882 

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2015, buildings with carrying amount of RMB45,687,000 (2014: RMB5,082,000) were transferred to 
investment properties upon change in use as evidenced by commencement of operating leases. The excess of the fair value of these properties at the 
date of change in use over the carrying amounts, amounting to RMB11,876,000 (2014: RMB9,942,000) were recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the property revaluation reserve and non-controlling interests in equity.
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Hotel buildings Over the shorter of the term of lease or 20 years
Buildings Over the shorter of the term of lease or 50 years
Renovations and leasehold improvements 5 to 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Transportation equipment 5 to 15 years

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s buildings and hotel buildings with carrying amounts of RMB741,470,000 
(2014: RMB521,182,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2015, transportation equipment amounting to RMB204,255,000 (2014: RMB205,903,000) are held 
under finance lease.

16. Investment Properties

Completed
investment
properties

Investment
properties under

construction Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2014 3,294,907 717,921 4,012,828
Additions 44,596 612,254 656,850
Transfer from prepaid lease payments (note 22) – 504,266 504,266
Transfer from premium on prepaid lease payments (note 23) – 154,569 154,569
Transfer from completed properties for sale (note 29) 602,110 – 602,110
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (note 15) 15,024 – 15,024
Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss 25,094 550,746 575,840
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45(a)) 165,932 – 165,932
Transfer upon completion of construction work 531,161 (531,161) –
Disposals (12,214) – (12,214)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 15) (33,130) – (33,130) 

At 31 December 2014 4,633,480 2,008,595 6,642,075
Additions 3,011 787,462 790,473
Transfer from completed properties for sale (note 29) 345,729 – 345,729
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (note 15) 57,563 – 57,563
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45(a) and (b)) 139,694 – 139,694
Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss 254,767 459,120 713,887
Transfer upon completion of construction work 364,475 (364,475) –
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 15) (4,343) – (4,343)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 46(a)) (1,060,654) (728,820) (1,789,474)
Disposals (10,673) – (10,673) 

At 31 December 2015 4,723,049 2,161,882 6,884,931 
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16. Investment Properties (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the fair value of the Group’s completed investment properties of RMB4,723,049,000 (2014:
RMB4,633,480,000) and investment properties under development of RMB2,161,882,000 (2014: RMB2,008,595,000)
were arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group, which has appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.

The valuations of completed investment properties are determined by both income capitalisation approach and comparison
approach which is arrived at by reference to net rental income allowing for reversionary income potential and market
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in the same locations and conditions, where appropriate. The valuations
of investment properties under construction are arrived at by residual method, which is based on market observable
transactions of similar properties and taken into account the construction costs that will be expended to complete the
development. Direct comparison approach is arrived at by reference to comparable market transactions and presuppose
that evidence of relevant transactions in the market place can be extrapolated to similar properties, subject to allowance for
variable factors.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 December 2015, investment properties with fair value of RMB582,498,000 (2014: RMB710,559,000) represent
completed car parks which can be legally transferred, leased and mortgaged but the title certificates cannot be currently
applied according to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s investment properties with an aggregate fair value of RMB736,349,000
(2014: RMB3,644,819,000) were pledged to banks to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals are classified and accounted for as
investment properties and are measured using the fair value model.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these investment properties as at 31 December 2015
and 2014 are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.
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16. Investment Properties (continued)

Investment properties 
held by the Group

Fair value
as at

31 December
2015 Location

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation techniques 
and key inputs

Significant unobservable inputs
(relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value) Range

RMB’000       

Completed investment 
properties

4,100,912 Shenzhen, 
Tianjin, 
Chengdu,
Nanjing

Level 3 Income capitalisation of the net 
income and made provisions for 
reversionary income potential.

1. Term yield (the higher of the term 
yield, the lower of the fair value)

2.0% – 6.0%

2. Reversionary yield (the higher of the 
reversionary yield, the lower of the fair 
value)

2.3% – 6.5%

3. Vacancy ratio (the higher of vacancy, 
the lower of the fair value)

0.0% – 20%

Completed investment 
properties

622,137 Guilin,
Shenzhen

Level 2 Direct comparison method – based 
on market observable transactions 
of similar properties and adjusted to 
reflect the conditions of the subject 
property.

N/A N/A

Investment properties under 
construction

2,074,050 Nanjing,
Tianjin, 
Suzhou

Level 3 Residual method – based on 
market observable transactions of 
similar properties and taken into 
account the construction costs that 
will be expended to complete the 
development.

1. Contingency (the higher of the 
contingency, the lower of the fair value)

2. Developer’s profit (the higher of the 
developer’s profit, the lower of the fair 
value)

3. Marketing costs (the higher of the 
marketing costs, the lower of the fair 
value)

4. Future construction costs for 
completion (the higher of the future 
construction costs, the lower of the fair 
value

5. Gross development value (RMB64/M) 
(the higher of the gross development 
value, the higher of the fair value)

5%

20%

3%

N/A

RMB5,700 – RMB14,240

Investment properties under 
construction

87,832 Chengdu Level 2 Direct comparison method – based 
on market observable transactions of 
similar lands and adjusted to reflect 
the conditions of the subject lands.

Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm) (the 
higher of the market unit sales rate, the 
higher of the fair value)

RMB1,400

       
6,884,931       
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16. Investment Properties (continued)

Investment properties 
held by the Group

Fair value
as at

31 December
2014 Location

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation techniques 
and key inputs

Significant unobservable inputs
(relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value) Range

RMB’000       

Completed investment 
properties

4,579,312 Shenzhen, 
Tianjin, 
Chengdu,
Nanjing

Level 3 Income capitalisation of the net 
income and made provisions for 
reversionary income potential.

1. Term yield (the higher of the term 
yield, the lower of the fair value)

2.0% – 5.0%

2. Reversionary yield (the higher of the 
reversionary yield, the lower of the fair 
value)

2.3% – 6.0%

3. Vacancy ratio (the higher of vacancy, 
the lower of the fair value)

0.0% – 8.0%

Completed investment 
properties

54,168 Guilin,
Shenzhen

Level 2 Direct comparison method – based 
on market observable transactions 
of similar properties and adjusted to 
reflect the conditions of the subject 
property.

N/A N/A

Investment properties under 
construction

1,390,599 Tianjin, 
Suzhou

Level 3 Residual method – based on 
market observable transactions of 
similar properties and taken into 
account the construction costs that 
will be expended to complete the 
development.

1. Contingency (the higher of the 
contingency, the lower of the fair value)

2. Developer’s profit (the higher of the 
developer’s profit, the lower of the fair 
value)

3. Marketing costs (the higher of the 
marketing costs, the lower of the fair 
value)

4. Future construction costs for 
completion (the higher of the future 
construction costs, the lower of the fair 
value

5. Gross development value (RMB64/M) 
(the higher of the gross development 
value, the higher of the fair value)

5%

10%

2%

N/A

RMB5,000 – RMB9,200

Investment properties under 
construction

617,996 Chengdu Level 2 Direct comparison method – based 
on market observable transactions of 
similar lands and adjusted to reflect 
the conditions of the subject lands.

Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm) (the 
higher of the market unit sales rate, the 
higher of the fair value)

RMB5,600 – RMB13,000

       
6,642,075       

During the year ended 31 December 2015, there were investment properties amounting to RMB415,560,000 (2014: 
RMB107,335,000) transferred out of Level 3 to Level 2 upon completion of construction work. There were no transfers 
into Level 3 during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.
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17. Interests in Associates

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of investments, unlisted 5,400 990
Share of post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income, 

net of dividends received 1,389 763

6,789 1,753

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group had interests in the following associates:

Name of associates
Registered capital/

share capital

Equity interest
attributable

to the Group Principal activities   

Shenzhen Yuezhong Property
Management Co., Ltd.
深圳市越眾物業管理有限公司

RMB1,000,000 50% Property management

Shenzhen Qianhai House Keeper 
Network Service Co., Ltd. 
深圳市前海房管家服務有限公司

RMB10,000,000 
(2014: 

RMB1,000,000)

49% Property management

Capitalrise Investment Pte. Ltd. 
新加坡置富投資有限公司

SGD100 29% Inactive

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, no associate is individually material to the Group.

18. Interests in Joint Ventures

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of investments, unlisted 429,816 628,132
Share of post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income, 

net of dividends received (19,772) (18,151)

410,044 609,981
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18. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group had interests in the following joint ventures:

Name of joint ventures

Total capital
amount

injected by
investors

Group’s capital
contribution

over total capital
injected by investors Principal activities

2015 2014     

南京中儲房地產開發有限公司
Nanjing Zhongchu Property Development 

Co., Ltd. (“Zhongchu”) (note a)

RMB240,000,000 60.0% 60.0% Property development 
in PRC

Fantasia (Novena) Pte. Ltd. (“Novena”)
(note a)

SGD1,000,000 90.0% 90.0% Property development 
in Singapore

TCL伊托邦（武漢）城市建設投資有限公司 
TCL Yituobang (Wuhan) City Construction 

in PRC Investment Co., Ltd. 
(“Yituobang”) (note a)

RMB20,000,000 50.0% 50.0% Property development

寧波世紀華豐房產有限公司
Ningbo Century Huafeng Property Co., Ltd. 

(“Huafeng”)

RMB427,500,000 (note b) 49.0% Property development 
in PRC

Notes:

(a) According to the Articles of Association of Zhongchu, Novena and Yituobang, all operating and financing decisions of these joint ventures require 
unanimous consent and approval from the shareholders including the Group and the other joint venture party.

(b) On 31 March 2015, the Group further acquired 51% equity interest in Huafeng due to cancellation of the disposal transaction in 2014, and details of 
related acquisition are disclosed in note 45(a). Huafeng became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company since the acquisition date.

The principal activities of the above joint ventures are strategic to the Group to continue with the expansion of the Group’s 
property development operation.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s material joint ventures is set out below. The 
summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s financial statements prepared in 
accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements.
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18. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

Zhongchu

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Current assets 3,029,584 2,752,641   

Non-current assets 339 383   

The above amounts of assets include the followings:

Property, plant and equipment 339 383
Properties under development for sale 1,805,756 1,127,542
Trade and other receivables 161,235 645,245
Amounts due from certain subsidiaries of the Company 1,023,916 962,387
Bank balances and cash 38,677 17,467   

Current liabilities 2,437,031 2,152,909   

The above amounts of liabilities include the following:

Trade and other payables 2,437,031 2,152,909   

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year 7,223 2,880   

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Net assets of the joint venture 592,892 600,115   

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Zhongchu 60.0% 60.0%   

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Zhongchu 355,735 360,069   
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18. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

Novena

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Current assets 867,849 809,158 

The above amounts of assets mainly include the followings: 

Properties under development for sale 867,261 807,421
Bank balances and cash 1,115 1,737
Prepayment 8,473 – 

Current liabilities 305,525 238,861 

Non-current liabilities 513,098 518,925 

The above amounts of liabilities mainly include the followings:

Trade and other payables 46,087 66,573
Deposits received for sale of properties 79,180 22,433
Amounts due to the certain subsidiaries of the Company 180,258 149,855
Borrowings 513,098 518,925 

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year 2,146 6,001 

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Net assets of the joint venture 49,226 51,372 

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Novena 90.0% 90.0% 

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Novena 44,303 46,235 
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19. Available-For-Sale Investment

The investment represented 10% equity investment in unlisted equity security issued by a private entity incorporated in 
the PRC. Its principal activity is property development in PRC. It is measured at cost less impairment at the end of the 
reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company 
are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably. On 8 January 2015, the Group disposed of its AFS 
investment through the disposal of the entire equity interests of its holding companies to an independent third party with 
detail disclosed in note 46(a)(i).

20. Goodwill

RMB’000  

COST
At 1 January 2014 110,783
Arising on acquisition of businesses (note 45(b)) 54,651  

At 31 December 2014 165,434
Arising on acquisition of businesses (note 45(b)) 599,631  

At 31 December 2015 765,065  

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014 and 2015 31,516  

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2015 733,549  

At 31 December 2014 133,918  

During the years ended 31 December 2015, the Group acquired a number of subsidiaries from independent third parties at 
total cash consideration of RMB910,327,000. The principal activities of the acquirees are mainly provision of travel agency 
services and property operation services. Details of related acquisitions are disclosed in note 45(b).

Goodwill acquired in business combinations is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs”) that are 
expected to benefit from those business combinations.

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, management of the Group determined that there is no impairment of 
its CGU containing goodwill for the acquisition of businesses.
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21. Intangible Assets

Property 
management
contracts and

customer
relationship Trademark Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST
At 1 January 2014 1,813 – 1,813
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45(b)) 29,448 – 29,448 
At 31 December 2014 31,261 – 31,261
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 45(b)) 138,187 52,441 190,628 
At 31 December 2015 169,448 52,441 221,889 
AMORTISATION
At 1 January 2014 906 – 906
Charge for the year 3,505 – 3,505 
At 31 December 2014 4,411 – 4,411
Charge for the year 13,004 – 13,004 
At 31 December 2015 17,415 – 17,415 
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2015 152,033 52,441 204,474 
At 31 December 2014 26,850 26,850 

The property management contracts, customer relationship and trade mark were acquired from independent third parties 
through the acquisition of subsidiaries during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight line basis over the remaining contract 
term ranging from 54 months to 180 months.

22. Prepaid Lease Payments

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets 868,698 884,550
Current assets 34,274 34,274 

902,972 918,824

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s prepaid lease payments with a carrying amount of RMB435,475,000 (2014: 
RMB718,467,000) were pledged to banks to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.
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23. Premium on Prepaid Lease Payments

Premium on prepaid lease payments of the Group represent the excess of the fair value over the carrying amount of the 
prepaid lease payments and amounting to RMB175,847,000 (2014: RMB179,525,000) in respect of leasehold lands in the 
PRC under long-term lease acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries during the year and are amortised over the period 
of the remaining lease term on a straight-line basis.

RMB’000  

COST
At 1 January 2014 429,141
Transfer to properties under development for sale (45,412)
Transfer to investment properties under construction (note 16) (179,353)  

At 31 December 2014 and 2015 204,376  

AMORTISATION
At 1 January 2014 28,256
Amortised for the year 22,910
Eliminated on transfer to properties under development for sale (1,531)
Eliminated on transfer to investment properties under construction (note 16) (24,784)  

At 31 December 2014 24,851
Amortised for the year 3,678  

At 31 December 2015 28,529  

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2015 175,847  

At 31 December 2014 179,525  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Non-current assets 172,169 175,847
Current assets 3,678 3,678   

175,847 179,525   
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24. Land Development Expenditure

In March 2011, the Group entered into an agreement (“Agreement 1”) with Chengdu Government relating to the
development of the Wu Gui Qiao Town located in Jinjiang area, Chengdu, Sichuan Province (“Land Development
Project”). Under the Agreement 1, the Group is required to jointly construct the ancillary facilities on these parcels of land
pursuant to the guidelines set by the Chengdu Government while the Chengdu Government is required to complete the
demolition and resettlement work, arrange public auction and pay certain percentage of sale proceeds received in public
auction to the Group by reference to the formula set out in the Agreement 1.

In March 2015, the Group entered into an agreement (“Agreement 2”) with Chengdu Government by the government
relating to the cancellation of the Agreement 1 and revision of the terms of the Land Development Project. Under the
Agreement 2, the Chengdu Government is required to return the cost incurred for constructing the ancillary facilities and
pay the project management fee at 5% per annum based on the accumulated costs incurred by the Group by instalments as
stipulated in the Agreement 2. During the year ended 31 December 2015, RMB315,930,000 has been settled by Chengdu
Government.

The outstanding balance of RMB419,274,000 which represented the accumulated costs amounting to RMB352,035,000
incurred on the Land Development Project after deduction of the refund received from Chengdu Government and
project management income amounting to RMB67,239,000 was reclassified to other receivables during the year ended 31
December 2015. Pursuant to the Agreement 2, Chengdu Government will settle the aforesaid receivables in 2016.

The movements of land development expenditure during the year are as follows:

RMB’000

At 1 January 2015 667,965
Investment income from Chengdu Government 67,239
Repayment from Chengdu Government (315,930)
Transfer to other receivables (note 30) (419,274) 

At 31 December 2015 – 

25. Deposits Paid for Acquisition of Subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had made deposits of RMB124,593,000 (2014: RMB119,889,000) in relation to
the acquisition of parcels of land through acquisition of Yunnan Zhongfucheng Property Development Co., Limited 雲
南眾福成房地產開發有限公司 (“Yunnan Zhongfucheng”) from an independent third party. The aforesaid company is
principally engaged in property development in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had made deposits of RMB106,736,000 (2014: RMB142,661,000) in relation to the
acquisition of a number of companies which are principally engaged in property operation in the PRC from independent
third parties. According to the sale and purchase agreements, in case of incompletion of the acquisitions, the deposits paid
will be fully refunded to the Group.

– F-418 –



For the year ended 31 December 2015

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. Deposit Paid for Acquisition of a Property Project

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had made deposit of RMB140,946,000 (2014: RMB136,648,000) in relation to the 
acquisition of a property project from an independent property developer.

The aforesaid deposit relates to acquisition of a building for hotel operations and is therefore classified as non-current assets.

At the date these consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue, the acquisition of the property project has not 
been completed.

27. Deposits Paid for Acquisition of Land Use Rights

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had made deposits of RMB1,050,077,000 in relation to acquisition of land use rights 
from third parties (2014: RMB1,005,685,000). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the aforesaid transactions 
are expected to be completed within twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

28. Deferred Taxation

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior 
years:

Fair value 
change of 

investment 
properties

Revaluation 
of investment 

properties 
and other 
properties

Temporary 
difference 

on accruals
Tax 

losses
Intangible 

assets Others Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note)        

At 1 January 2014 813,471 20,474 (30,708) (118,786) 226 (358,215) 326,462
Charge to other comprehensive 

income – 2,485 – – – – 2,485
Acquisition of subsidiaries 

(note 45(a) and (b)) 19,294 – (4,029) (7,444) 7,362 2,508 17,691
Charge (credit) to profit or loss 324,462 – (12,737) (60,456) (876) (14,137) 236,256
Disposal of subsidiaries 

(note 46(a) and (c)) – – 4,105 12,785 – (2,343) 14,547        

At 31 December 2014 1,157,227 22,959 (43,369) (173,901) 6,712 (372,187) 597,441
Charge to other comprehensive income – 2,969 – – – – 2,969
Acquisition of subsidiaries 

(note 45(a) and (b)) 14,065 12,139 (2,099) (1,151) 43,199 (5,902) 60,251
Charge (credit) to profit or loss 265,841 – (3,429) 6,467 (3,251) (21,872) 243,756
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 46(a)) (287,202) (8,093) – 75 – – (295,220)        

At 31 December 2015 1,149,931 29,974 (48,897) (168,510) 46,660 (399,961) 609,197        

Note: Others mainly represent the deductible temporary difference arising from LAT provision.
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28. Deferred Taxation (continued)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets (462,161) (498,714)
Deferred tax liabilities 1,071,358 1,096,155 

609,197 597,441

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had unutilised tax losses of RMB3,065,202,000 (2014: RMB2,118,150,000). A deferred 
tax asset has been recognised in respect of RMB674,040,000 (2014: RMB695,604,000) of such tax losses. No deferred tax 
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of RMB2,391,162,000 (2014: RMB1,422,546,000) due to 
the unpredictability of future profits streams.

As at 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings 
of subsidiaries, for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised, was RMB7,582,886,000 (2014: 
RMB7,324,895,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised in respect of these temporary differences because 
the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that such 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

29. Properties for Sale

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Completed properties for sale 5,393,480 6,266,564
Properties under development for sale 16,408,168 13,175,952   

21,801,648 19,442,516  

As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s properties for sale with a carrying amount of RMB1,960,608,000 (2014: 
RMB5,832,326,000) were pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, completed properties for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of 
RMB169,807,000 (2014: RMB506,445,000) were transferred to investment properties upon change in use as evidenced 
by signing of relevant tenancy agreements. The excess of the fair value of these properties at the date of transfer over their 
carrying amounts, amounting to RMB175,922,000 (2014: RMB95,665,000) were recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Included in the amount are properties under development for sale of RMB8,608,294,000 (2014: RMB7,389,330,000) in 
relation to property development projects that are expected to complete after one year from the end of the reporting period.
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30. Trade and Other Receivables

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Trade receivables 1,317,151 1,034,555
Other receivables (note a) 362,730 321,438
Prepayments and other deposits 186,946 103,146
Prepayments for suppliers 165,829 187,386
Prepayments for construction work 1,029,565 1,262,129
Consideration receivables on disposal of subsidiaries (note 46(a)) 761,000 286,446
Amount due from Pixian Government (note b) 135,989 135,989
Amount due from Chengdu Government (note 24) 419,274 –
Other tax prepayments (note c) 225,563 173,613
Consideration receivables on disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries resulting in 

loss of control – 206,410
Consideration receivables on disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries without loss 

of control – 162,250   

4,604,047 3,873,362   

Note:

(a) The balance mainly includes the payment on behalf of residents for the utilities and sundry charges of property operation segment.

(b) In September 2009, the Group entered into an agreement (“Agreement 1”) with Pixian Government relating to the joint development of the 
Wangcong Ancient Sichuan Culture Park located in Pixian County, Chengdu, Sichuan Province (“Land Development Project 2”). Under the 
Agreement 1, the Group is responsible for preparing overall plans and detailed designs of the culture park as well as the construction of road nearby 
while the Pixian Government is required to complete the demolition and resettlement work, arrange public auction and pay certain percentage of sale 
proceeds received in public auction and pay certain percentage of sale proceeds received in public auction to the Group by reference to the formula set 
out in the Agreement 1.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group entered into an agreement (“Agreement 2”) with Pixian Government relating to the cancellation 
of the Agreement 1 and revision of the terms of the Land Development Project 2. Under the Agreement 2, the Group is responsible for provision of 
funds to Pixian Government and management of the Land Development Project 2 to Pixian Government while the Pixian Government is required to 
repay finance cost at Benchmark Rate, investment income at 12% per annum and project management fee at 3% per annum based on the accumulated 
cost incurred by the Group as stipulated in the formula setout in the Agreement 2, before the execution of Agreement 2.

As at 31 December 2015, the balance of investment income amounting to RMB135,989,000 is required to be settled on or before 31 December 2016. 
The principal amounting to RMB376,841,000 is required to be settled upon the land are disposed by Pixian Government which is classified as non-
current assets.

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group is required to prepay business tax amounting to RMB269,625,000 (2014: RMB188,054,000) 
in accordance with the relevant PRC tax rules in respect of its pre-sale of property development projects. As at 31 December 2015, RMB218,691,000 
(2014: RMB168,946,000) has been prepaid and included in other tax prepayments.
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30. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

Trade receivables are mainly arisen form sales of properties, rental income derived from investment properties, agency fee
income in respect of property rentals, services and management income in respect of property management.

Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid by purchasers in accordance with the terms of the related sale and
purchase agreements.

Rental income from investment properties is received in accordance with the terms of the relevant lease agreements,
normally within 30 days from the issuance of invoices.

Management and services fee income is received in accordance with the terms of the relevant property service agreements,
normally within 30 days to 1 year after the issuance of demand note to the residents. Each customer from the property
management services has a designated credit limit.

Hotel operation and travel agency service income are in the from of cash sales.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables of the Group net of allowance for doubtful debts presented based on
the date of delivery of the properties to the customers at the end of the reporting period:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

0 to 30 days 865,758 617,505
31 to 90 days 126,749 101,979
91 to 180 days 118,624 72,856
181 to 365 days 105,263 141,341
Over 1 year 100,757 100,874 

1,317,151 1,034,555

The trade receivables as at 31 December 2015 included the receivables from the property sales of RMB469,365,000 (2014: 
RMB343,772,000) whereby the banks have agreed to provide mortgage facilities to the property purchasers and the banks 
are in the process of releasing the funds to the Group.
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30. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

For property investment and property operation services, before accepting any new customer, the Group would assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and defined credit rating limits of each customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date and no impairment is necessary for those
balances which are not past due.

As at 31 December 2015, included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
RMB359,036,000 (2014: RMB315,071,000) which are past due for which the Group has not provided impairment loss
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and amounts are still considered recoverable based on historical
experience. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

91 to 180 days 118,624 72,856
181 to 365 days 105,263 141,341
Over 1 year 100,757 100,874 

324,644 315,071

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts in respect of trade and other receivables

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 48,755 9,102
Impairment losses recognised 48,874 44,697
Impairment losses reversed (4,370) (5,044) 

Balance at the end of the year 93,259 48,755 
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31. Amounts Due from Customers for Contract Works

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses 368,733 363,489
Less: progress billings (296,937) (312,224) 

71,796 51,265

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Amounts due from customers for contract works 88,937 59,460
Amounts due to customers for contract works (17,141) (8,195) 

71,796 51,265

Retentions held by customers for contract works for installation contracts was included in trade receivables as at 31 
December 2015 and 2014. No significant advance was received from customers prior to commencement of contract works as 
at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

32. Amount Due from a Joint Venture

As at 31 December 2015, the balance of amount due from a joint venture, Novena, amounting to RMB180,258,000 (2014:
RMB149,855,000), represents receivables from the joint venture and is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.
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33. Amounts Due from Related Parties

2015 2014
Amounts due from: Notes RMB’000 RMB’000  

Shenzhen Cube Architecture Designing Consultants 
Company Limited “Cube Architecture” (a) 1,124 –

Shenzhen Caifubao Network Technology Company Limited 
“Shenzhen Caifubao “ (b) 183,658 –  

184,782 –

Notes:

(a) One of the shareholder of Cube Architecture is a company controlled by Ms. Zeng Jie, Baby who is the controlling shareholder and director of the
Company. Cube Architecture provided design service for certain property projects of the Group. The amount is trade in nature, unsecured, interest-
free and payable according to the credit term. The aging of the balance is within 90 days.

(b) Pan Jun, a director and the chief executive officer of the Company, is the controlling shareholder of Shenzhen Caifubao. The cash advance by the
Group to Shenzhen Caifubao is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable one demand.

34. Financial Assets Designated as at FVTPL

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group invested in money market funds issued by a reputable securities
corporation through acquisition of Shenzhen Kaiyuan International Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Kaiyuan”).
The return and principal were not guaranteed by the securities corporation and the value of the funds varies by reference
to the performance of the underlying investments comprising mainly debt investments in PRC including government
debentures, treasury notes, corporate bonds and short-term fixed deposits. The investments in money market funds have
been designated as at FVTPL at initial recognition as the investments are managed and the performance is evaluated on
fair value basis. As at 31 December 2015, the principal of the investments in the money market funds are RMB19,200,000
(2014: nil). In the opinion of directors, the fair value of investment at 31 December 2015 approximated to their principal
amounts.
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35. Restricted/Pledged Bank Deposits/Bank Balances and Cash

Restricted/pledged bank deposits
The deposits carry interest rates ranging from 0.3% to 0.4% (2014: 0.4% to 0.5%) per annum. The restricted/pledged
bank deposits amounting to RMB510,832,000 (2014: RMB272,741,000) will be released upon the buyers obtaining
the individual property ownership certificate, while a total amount of RMB137,209,000 (2014: RMB145,211,000) are
proceeded from presale of properties with the restriction of use for settlement of construction costs for relevant property
projects. The term deposits amounting to RMB688,441,000 (2014: RMB496,644,000) were pledged to banks to secure
the short term banking facilities granted to the Group.

Bank balances and cash
The bank balances carry variable interest rates ranging from 0.3% to 2.8% (2014: 0.4% to 2.3%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2015, bank balances of the relevant group entities denominated in foreign currencies as below:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

USD 24,247 60,413
HKD 84,189 318,722
SGD 4,818 243
JPY 1,434 3,366

36. Trade and Other Payables

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 

Trade payables 4,530,755 3,706,547
Deposit received (a) 587,197 183,996
Other payables (b) 901,313 891,659
Other tax payables 188,376 137,307
Accrued staff costs 215,566 105,508
Retention payables (c) 7,234 6,870
Consideration payables (note 45(b)) 138,127 426,297
Accruals 58,360 57,959 

6,626,928 5,516,143

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for purchase of materials and subcontracting fee for the 
construction of properties for sale. The average credit period for purchase of construction materials ranged from six months 
to one year.
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36. Trade and Other Payables (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables and retention payables presented based on the invoice date 
at the end of the reporting period:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

0 to 60 days 2,012,493 2,774,979
61 to 180 days 771,978 260,645
181 to 365 days 1,088,540 507,270
1–2 years 575,877 118,654
2–3 years 85,096 11,014
Over 3 years 4,005 40,855   

4,537,989 3,713,417   

Notes: 

(a) The balance of deposits received amounting to RMB517,197,000 (2014: RMB183,996,000) mainly represent the earnest money received from 
potential property buyers. The deposit received at 31 December 2015 also included the cash receipt from certain independent potential investors of a 
subsidiary of the Company amounting to RMB70,000,000.

(b) The balance of other payables mainly includes 1) receipt on behalf of residents amounting to RMB157,581,000 (2014: RMB105,648,000), 2) 
advances for settlement of property management service fees amounting to RMB78,837,000 (2014: RMB14,273,000).

(c) As at December 2015, the balance of RMB7,234,000 (2014: RMB6,870,000) represents the retention money of approximately 5% to 10% of the 
construction contract price.
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37. Amount Due to a Non-Controlling Shareholder

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group acquired Huizhou TCL Property Development Company Limited
惠州TCL房地產開發有限公司 (“Huizhou TCL”) from TCL Corporation and two other independent third parties
at a consideration of RMB1,905,053,000. The consideration of RMB939,525,000 has been settled by the issuance of
863,600,074 ordinary shares of the Company to TCL Corporation, and the remaining consideration of RMB965,528,000
will be payable within 3 years. At 31 December 2015, TCL Corporation owns 15% shareholding in the Company.

According to the sales and purchase agreements, the remaining consideration due to TCL Corporation is interest bearing at
10.58% per annum and to be settled by three instalments and the last instalment to be settled before 6 January 2017, the
unpaid consideration payables as at 31 December 2015 are as follows:

RMB’000

Consideration payables at date of acquisition 965,528
Interest expense 141,099 

At 1 January 2015 1,106,627
Interest expenses 48,581
Repayment (435,288) 

At 31 December 2015 719,920 

Repayable within one year 390,199
Repayable after one year 329,721 

719,920

38. Amounts Due to Joint Ventures

As at 31 December 2015, the amounts due to Zhongchu amounting to RMB1,023,916,000 (2014: RMB962,387,000),
Yituobang amounting to RMB10,000,000 (2014: RMB10,000,000) and Huafeng amounting to nil (2014:
RMB24,080,000) represent advances from these joint ventures and are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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39. Borrowings

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000    

Bank loans 3,164,412 6,174,400
Other loans (a) 800,000 1,600,000    

3,964,412 7,774,400    

Secured (b) 3,914,412 7,636,242
Unsecured 50,000 138,158    

3,964,412 7,774,400    

Carrying amount repayable: (c)

Within one year 1,407,598 4,122,925
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 1,225,488 1,867,361
More than two years, but not exceeding five years 1,242,871 927,821
More than five years 88,455 856,293    

Total borrowings 3,964,412 7,774,400    

Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current liabilities (1,407,598) (4,122,925)    

Borrowings due after one year 2,556,814 3,651,475    

Notes:

(a) Other loans amounting to RMB800,000,000 (2014: RMB1,600,000,000) represent loans provided by certain trust companies, which are secured by 
property, plant and equipment, investment properties and properties for sale, carry interest at the fixed rate of 12.0% (2014: 9.5%) per annum. The 
loan balance as at 31 December 2015 will be fully repaid within 2018.

(b) As at 31 December 2015, certain directors of the Company provided joint guarantees to the banks and trust companies to secure the Group’s bank 
and other borrowings amounting to RMB247,000,000 (2014: RMB59,640,000) in aggregate.

(c) The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

As at 31 December 2015, all borrowings are denominated in RMB except that secured borrowings amounting to 
RMB332,708,000 (2014: RMB136,577,000) and RMB39,530,000 (2014: RMB42,413,000) are denominated in USD 
and JPY respectively, the functional currencies of relevant group entities.
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39. Borrowings (continued)

The analysis of the Group’s fixed-rate borrowings based on their contractual maturity dates (or reset dates) is as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Fixed-rate borrowings:
Within one year 30,099 1,854,542
More than one year, but not exceeding two years – 244,791
More than two years, but not exceeding five years 801,148 2,221
More than five years 38,455 227,373 

869,702 2,328,927

In addition, the Group has variable-rate borrowings which carry interest linked to LIBOR, HIBOR and Benchmark Rate. 
Interest is reset every six months. The analysis of the Group’s variable-rate borrowings based on their contractual maturity 
dates are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Variable-rate borrowings:
Within one year 1,377,499 2,268,383
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 1,225,488 1,622,570
More than two years, but not exceeding five years 441,723 925,600
More than five years 50,000 628,920 

3,094,710 5,445,473

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are the contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2015 2014

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings 7.4% to 12.0% per annum 9.5% per annum

Variable-rate borrowings
LIBOR +2.0% per annum +2.0% per annum
Benchmark Rate –0.1% to +3.6% per annum –0.1% to +3.3% per annum
Benchmark Deposit Rate of the People’s Bank of China +1.8% per annum –

– F-430 –



For the year ended 31 December 2015

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. Obligations Under Finance Leases

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its transportation equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is 6
years (2014: 7 years). Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases are fixed at respective contract dates
ranging 4.2% (2014: 4.2%) per annum.

Minimum lease payments
Present value of 

minimum lease payments
2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

Amounts payable under finance leases
Within one year 26,922 26,235 22,101 20,826
More than one year but not more than two years 26,004 25,369 21,691 20,426
More than two years but not more than five years 72,502 70,915 66,713 62,878
More than five years 16,920 37,771 16,575 36,445 

142,348 160,290 127,080 140,575
Less: future finance charge (15,268) (19,715) – – 

Present value of lease obligations 127,080 140,575 127,080 140,575 

Less: Amount due for settlement within twelve 
months shown under current liabilities (22,101) (20,826)

Amount due for settlement after twelve months 104,979 119,749 

Finance lease obligations are denominated in USD, which is the foreign currency of the relevant group entity and secured 
by the leased asset.
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41. Senior Notes and Bonds

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 

2010 senior notes due 2015 (a) – 746,051
2012 senior notes due 2017 (b) 1,634,145 1,557,925
2013 – January senior notes due 2020 (c) 1,644,646 1,572,291
2013 – May senior notes due 2016 (d) 1,004,105 996,332
2014 senior notes due 2019 (e) 1,982,577 1,895,533
2015 – May senior notes due 2018 (f) 1,258,302 –
2015 – domestic corporate bonds due 2021 (g) 1,988,804 –  

9,512,579 6,768,132
Less: amounts due within one year included in current liabilities (1,004,105) (746,051)  

Amounts due after one year included in non-current liabilities 8,508,474 6,022,081 

Notes:

(a) 2010 senior notes
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company repaid guaranteed senior notes in an aggregate principal amount together with all accrued
interest of RMB795,926,000.

(b) 2012 senior notes
On 27 September 2012, the Company issued senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of US$250,000,000. The senior notes are guaranteed by
certain subsidiaries of the Company. The issue price is 99.5% of the principal amount of the senior notes. The senior notes are listed on the SGX. The 
senior notes carry interest of 13.8% per annum and interest is payable semi-annually on 27 March and 27 September in arrears. The notes will mature 
on 27 September 2017, unless redeemed earlier.

The senior notes may be redeemed in the following circumstances:

At any time, the Company may at its option redeem the senior notes, in whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the senior notes plus applicable premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the Company dated 20 September 2012 (“Applicable 
Premium 2”) as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any to (but not including) the redemption date.

Applicable Premium 2 is the greater of 1% of the principal amount of such senior notes or the excess of the amount equivalent to the principal amount 
and related interest up to 27 September 2017 discounted at a rate equal to comparable treasury price in United States plus 100 basis points over the
principal amount.

At any time and from time to time prior to 27 September 2015, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the senior 
notes with the net cash proceeds of one or more sales of ordinary shares of the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of 113.8% of the 
principal amount of the senior notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date.

The senior notes contain a liability component and the above early redemption options:

(i) Liability component represents the present value of the contractually determined stream of future cash flows discounted at the prevailing
market interest rate at that time applicable to instruments of comparable credit status and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the 
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of approximately 14.9% per annum to the liability 
component since the senior notes were issued.
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41. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) 2012 senior notes (continued)
(ii) Early redemption options are regarded as embedded derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The directors consider that the fair 

value of the above early redemption options is insignificant on initial recognition, 31 December 2014 and 2015.

(c) 2013 – January senior notes
On 22 January 2013, the Company issued guaranteed senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of US$250,000,000. The senior notes are 
guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company. The issue price is 100% of the principal amount. The senior notes are listed on the SGX and carry 
interest of 10.75% per annum and interest is payable semi-annually on 22 January and 22 July in arrears. The senior notes will mature on 22 January 
2020, unless redeemed earlier.

The senior notes may be redeemed in the following circumstances:

At any time, the Company may at its option redeem the senior notes, in whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal 
amount of the senior notes plus applicable premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the Company dated 22 January 2013 (“Applicable 
Premium 3”) as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any to (but not including) the redemption date.

Applicable Premium 3 is the greater of 1% of the principal amount of such senior notes or the excess of the amount equivalent to the principal amount 
and related interest up to 22 January 2020 discounted at a rate equal to comparable treasury price in United States plus 100 basis points over the 
principal amount.

At any time and from time to time on or after 22 January 2017, the Company may at its option redeem the senior notes, in whole or in part, at a 
redemption price equal to 100% percentage of principal amount set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the 
redemption date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 22 January 2017, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the senior 
notes with the net cash proceeds of one or more sales of ordinary shares of the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of 110.75% of the 
principal amount of the senior notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date.

Period Redemption price  

22 January 2017–21 January 2018 105.3750%
22 January 2018–21 January 2019 102.6875%
22 January 2019 and thereafter 100.0000%
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41. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c) 2013 – January senior notes (continued)
The senior notes contain a liability component and the above early redemption options:

(a) Liability component represents the present value of the contractually determined stream of future cash flows discounted at the prevailing
market interest rate at that time applicable to instruments of comparable credit status and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the 
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of approximately 14.6% per annum to the liability 
component since the senior notes were issued.

(b) Early redemption options are regarded as embedded derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The directors consider that the fair
value of the above early redemption options is insignificant on initial recognition, 31 December 2014 and 2015.

(d) 2013 – May senior notes
On 27 May 2013, the Company issued guaranteed senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000. The senior notes are
guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company. The issue price is 100% of the principal amount. The senior notes are listed on the SGX and carry 
interest of 7.875% per annum and interest is payable semi-annually on 27 November and 27 May in arrears. The senior notes will mature on 27 May 
2016, unless redeemed earlier.

The senior notes may be redeemed in the following circumstances:

At any time, the Company may at its option redeem the senior notes, in whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the senior notes plus applicable premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the Company dated 27 May 2013 (“Applicable 
Premium 4”) as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any to (but not including) the redemption date.

Applicable Premium 4 is the greater of 1% of the principal amount of such senior notes or the excess of the amount equivalent to the principal amount 
and related interest up to 27 May 2016 discounted at a rate equal to comparable treasury price in United States plus 100 basis points over the principal 
amount.

At any time and from time to time prior to 27 May 2016, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the senior notes 
with the net cash proceeds of one or more sales of ordinary shares of the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of 107.875% of the
principal amount of the senior notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d) 2013 – May senior notes (continued)
The senior notes contain a liability component and the above early redemption options:

(i) Liability component represents the present value of the contractually determined stream of future cash flows discounted at the prevailing
market interest rate at that time applicable to instruments of comparable credit status and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the 
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of approximately 11.3% per annum to the liability 
component since the senior notes were issued.

(ii) Early redemption options are regarded as embedded derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The directors consider that the fair
value of the above early redemption options is insignificant on initial recognition, 31 December 2014 and 2015.

(e) 2014 senior notes
On 23 January 2014, the Company issued guaranteed senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of USD300,000,000. The senior notes are
guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company. The issue price is 100% of the principal amount. The senior notes are listed on the SGX and carry 
interest of 10.625% per annum and interest is payable semi-annually on 23 January and 23 July in arrears. The senior notes will mature on 23 January 
2019, unless redeemed earlier.

The senior notes may be redeemed in the following circumstances:

At any time prior to 23 January 2017, the Company may at its option redeem the senior notes, in whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal to 
100% of the principal amount of the senior notes plus applicable premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the Company dated 23 January 
2014 (“Applicable Premium 5”) as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any to (but not including) the redemption date.

Applicable Premium 5 is the greater of 1% of the principal amount of such senior notes or the excess of the amount equivalent to the of principal
amount and related interest up to 23 January 2017 discounted at a rate equal to comparable treasury price in United States plus 100 basis points over 
the principal amount.

At any time and from time to time on or after 23 January 2017, the Company may at its option redeem the senior notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to the percentage of principal amount set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date if redeemed during the 12-month period beginning on 23 January of the years indicated below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e) 2014 – May senior notes (continued)
At any time and from time to time prior to 23 January 2017, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the senior
notes with the net cash proceeds of the issuance of ordinary shares of the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of 110.75% of the
principal amount of the senior notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date, provided that at least 65% 
of the aggregate principal amount of the senior notes issued on the original issue date remains outstanding after each such redemption and any such
redemption takes place within 60 days after the closing of the related equity offering.

Period Redemption price  

23 January 2017–22 January 2018 105.31250%
23 January 2018 and thereafter 102.65625%

The senior notes contain a liability component and the above early redemption options:

(i) Liability component represents the present value of the contractually determined stream of future cash flows discounted at the prevailing
market interest rate at that time applicable to instruments of comparable credit status and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the 
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of approximately 11.1% per annum to the liability 
component since the senior notes were issued.

(ii) Early redemption options are regarded as embedded derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The directors consider that the fair
value of the above early redemption options is insignificant on initial recognition, 31 December 2014 and 2015.

(f) 2015 – May senior notes
On 27 May 2015, the Company issued guaranteed senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of USD200,000,000. The senior notes are
guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company. The issue price is 99.26% of the principal amount. The senior notes are listed on the SGX and
carry interest of 11.50% per annum and interest is payable semi-annually on 1 June and 1 December in arrears. The senior notes will mature on 1 June 
2018, unless redeemed earlier.

The senior notes may be redeemed in the following circumstances:

At any time prior to 1 June 2018, the Company may at its option redeem the senior notes, in whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal to
100% of the principal amount of the senior notes plus applicable premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the Company dated 27 May
2015 (“Applicable Premium 6”) as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any to (but not including) the redemption date.
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41. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(f) 2015 – May senior notes (continued)
Applicable Premium 6 is the greater of 1% of the principal amount of such senior notes or the excess of the amount equivalent to the of principal 
amount and related interest up to 1 June 2018 discounted at a rate equal to comparable treasury price in United States plus 100 basis points over the 
principal amount.

At any time and from time to time prior to 1 June 2018, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the senior 
notes with the net cash proceeds of the issuance of ordinary shares of the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of 111.50% of the 
principal amount of the senior notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date, provided that at least 65% 
of the aggregate principal amount of the senior notes issued on the original issue date remains outstanding after each such redemption and any such 
redemption takes place within 60 days after the closing of the related equity offering.

The senior notes contain a liability component and the above early redemption options:

(i) Liability component represents the present value of the contractually determined stream of future cash flows discounted at the prevailing 
market interest rate at that time applicable to instruments of comparable credit status and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the 
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of approximately 12.6% per annum to the liability 
component since the senior notes were issued.

(ii) Early redemption options are regarded as embedded derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The directors consider that the fair 
value of the above early redemption options is insignificant on initial recognition and 31 December 2015.

(g) 2015 Domestic Corporate Bonds
On 18 September 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Fantasia Group (China) Co., Ltd. 花樣年集團（中國）有限公司 (“Fantasia 
Group China”) issued domestic corporate bonds of RMB2,000,000,000 (“2015 Domestic Corporate Bonds”), which listed on the Shanghai Stock 
Exchange (“SSE”). 2015 Domestic Corporate Bonds are unsecured, carry interest at rate of 6.95% per annum and interest is payable annually, 
commencing on 18 September 2015. 2015 Domestic Corporate Bonds will mature on 16 September 2020 unless the holders sell back the bonds to 
Fantasia Group China earlier.

At the end of the third year subsequent to the inception date, Fantasia Group China as the issuer is entitled to adjust interest rate and the holders of 
2015 Domestic Corporate Bonds may at their options (“put options”) to sell back the bonds to Fantasia Group China in whole or in part at face value 
of their principal amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(g) 2015 Domestic Corporate Bonds (continued)
The above bonds contain a liability component and the above put options:

(i) Liability component represents the present value of the contractually determined stream of future cash flows discounted at the prevailing
market interest rate at that time applicable to instruments of comparable credit status and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the 
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of approximately 7.3% per annum to the liability 
component since the domestic bond were issued.

(ii) As at initial recognition date and 31 December 2015, the fair value of put options of RMB29,590,000 and RMB22,673,000 have been
recognised in the consolidated statements of financial position, of which, fair value gain of RMB6,917,000 was recognised for the year ended 
31 December 2015.

The fair value of the put options at initial recognition date and 31 December 2015 has been determined by using the Binomial Option Pricing 
Model. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the put options are based on the best estimate by the management 
of the Group. The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The inputs into the model are as follows:

18 September 2015 31 December 2015  

Risk-free rate 3.1160% 2.8620%
Time to expiration 5 years 4.7 years
Yield 6.95% 6.95%

The movements of the liability component in the senior notes during the year are set out below:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 6,768,132 4,843,390
Net proceeds on the date of issuance of senior notes and bonds 3,211,284 1,801,274
Exchange loss 233,950 8,479
Interest expenses 887,481 768,529
Initial recognition of derivative financial instruments relating to 

put option of 2015 Domestic Corporate Bonds (29,590) –
Payment of interest and related financial costs (762,752) (653,540)
Repayment of 2010 senior notes (795,926) – 
At 31 December 9,512,579 6,768,132 

The carrying amounts and fair values of senior notes and bonds (based on the ask price in SGX and SSE) at the end of the reporting period are 
disclosed below:

2015 2015 2014 2014
Fair value 
hierarchy

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

Senior notes Level 1 7,523,775 7,735,192 6,768,132 6,333,896
2015 Domestic Corporate Bonds Level 1 1,988,804 2,003,000 – –   
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42. Provision

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group acquired Shenzhen Tengxing Hongda Investment Development Co., 
Ltd 深圳騰星宏達投資發展有限公司 (“Shenzhen Tengxing”) from an independent third party.

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement, the Group agreed with the former equity holder of Shenzhen Tengxing that 
after the property project construction completed by the Group, the Group is required to transfer 5% of the completed 
property of this property project to the former equity holder of Shenzhen Tengxing.

The potential amount of the costs (including development expenditure and other attributable expenses of the construction 
of properties) to be incurred to complete for this 5% completed property to be delivered to the former equity holder of 
Shenzhen Tengxing is accounted for as a provision of RMB33,255,000 as at 31 December 2015 (2014: RMB31,931,000).

43. Share Capital

Number of shares Amount Equivalent to
HK$ RMB’000    

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

Authorised:
At 1 January 2014, 31 December 2014, and 2015 8,000,000,000 800,000,000 704,008    

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2014 4,893,733,750 489,373,375 429,575
Issue of shares as consideration for the acquisition of 

Huizhou TCL (note 45(a)(i)) 863,600,074 86,360,007 67,900
Issue of shares upon exercise of share option 124,200 12,420 10    

At 31 December 2014 5,757,458,024 575,745,802 497,485    

Issue of shares upon exercise of share option 3,721,400 372,140 312    

At 31 December 2015 5,761,179,424 576,117,942 497,797    

None of the Company’s subsidiaries sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the years ended 31 
December 2015 and 2014.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. Perpetual Capital Instrument

In April 2014, a wholly owned subsidiary (the “Subsidiary”) of the Company issued a perpetual capital instrument (the
“Perpetual Capital Instrument”) with the aggregate principal amount of RMB700,000,000 by entering into a Perpetual
Capital Instrument Agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent third party. The Perpetual Capital Instrument was
issued for development of the existing property development project in PRC.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Perpetual Capital Instrument has no fixed maturity date and redeemable at the Subsidiary’s
option at its principal amount together with accrued, unpaid or deferred distribution payments. The distribution rate for
the instrument is 9% per annum for the first and second year, then increase to 24% per annum for the third year and years
after. If no distribution is paid in that year, the distribution rate will be adjusted by a 100% premium in the next year and
so on. The distribution rate is capped at 24% per annum. The Perpetual Capital Instrument is jointly guaranteed by two
subsidiaries of the Company, Pan Jun and Zeng Jie, Baby, the directors of the Company, and secured by pledges of the
shares of a subsidiary of the Company and a land use right owned by a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

The payments of distribution can be deferred at the discretion of the Subsidiary. While any distributions are unpaid or
deferred, the Company and the Subsidiary cannot declare or pay dividends to the shareholders of the Company. Therefore,
the Perpetual Capital Instrument is classified as equity instrument and presented as a part of equity in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries

(a) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through acquisitions of subsidiaries
For the year ended December 2015
(i) On 31 March 2014, the Group disposed 51% equity interests in Huafeng, an indirectly wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company, to an independent third party at a cash consideration of RMB206,410,000, which
should be settled before 31 March 2015, resulting in loss of control upon completion of the transaction. Due
to the financial difficulty of the buyer, the consideration cannot be settled and on 31 March 2015, the Group
and the buyer entered into a cancellation agreement pursuant to which the transaction for the disposal of 51%
equity interest in Huafeng was cancelled and the consideration receivable of RMB206,410,000 due from the
buyer is waived. The Group obtained the control of Huafeng subsequent to the cancellation of the agreement.
Huafeng is principally engaged in property development which holds properties under development in the
PRC.

(ii) On 11 December 2015, the Group acquired a completed investment property situated in Shanghai, the PRC
through the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Haiyat Investment Co., Ltd. 海逸投資有限公司 (“Haiyat”)
at a cash consideration of RMB87,500,000.
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45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
The above transactions are accounted for as purchase of assets and liabilities. Details of the net assets acquired in 
respect of the above transaction are summarised below:

RMB’000  

Net assets acquired
Property, plant and equipment 1,531
Investment property 124,327
Properties for sale 1,138,188
Trade and other receivables 42,546
Amounts due from certain subsidiaries of the Company 106,191
Tax recoverable 27,354
Bank balances and cash 41,481
Trade and other payables (13,154)
Deposits received for sale of properties (547,390)
Deferred tax liabilities (13,456)
Borrowings – due after one year (421,095)  

486,523  

Total consideration satisfied by:
Cash consideration for acquisition of Haiyat 87,500
Consideration receivable related to disposal of Huafeng to be waived upon termination 206,410
49% equity interest in Hua Feng previously classified as interest in a joint venture 192,613  

486,523  

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition
Cash consideration paid during the year 87,500
Bank balances and cash acquired (41,481)  

46,019  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014
(i) On 6 January 2014, the Group acquired several property development projects through the acquisition of the

entire equity interest and indebtedness due to former shareholder in Huizhou TCL from TCL Corporation
and two other independent third parties at a consideration of RMB1,905,053,000.

The consideration of RMB939,525,000 has been settled by the issuance of 863,600,074 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each of the Company at a price of HK$1.37 (equivalent to RMB1.09) in the Company to TCL
Corporation, and the remaining consideration of RMB965,528,000 will be payable within 3 years.

(ii) On 30 June 2014, the Group acquired a property development project through the acquisition of the 81%
equity interest in Shenzhen Jindiying from an independent third party at a total cash consideration of
RMB250,000,000 included deposit amounting to RMB100,000,000 for such acquisition has been paid in
2013.

(iii) On 31 August 2014, the Group acquired a property development project through the acquisition of the
81% equity interest in Shenzhen Yonglihongying Investment Co., Ltd. (深圳市永利鴻盈投資有限公司)
from an independent third party at a cash consideration of RMB646,195,000. As at 31 December 2014, the
consideration of RMB260,490,000 has been settled and the remaining consideration of RMB385,705,000 will
be payable within one year.

(iv) On 30 June 2014, the Group disposed 51% equity interest in Chengdu Wangcong Property Development
Co., Ltd. (成都望叢房地產開發有現公司) (“Wangcong”), an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, to an independent third party at a cash consideration of RMB182,580,000, which will be settled
before 31 December 2014, resulting in loss of control upon completion of the transaction. Due to the
financial difficulty of the independent third party, the consideration receivable cannot be settled and on 31
August 2014, the Group and the independent third party entered into a termination agreement pursuant to
which the transaction for the disposal of 51% equity interest in Wangcong was terminated at a consideration
of RMB182,580,000 and the deposit received had been returned to the independent third party. The Group
regained the control of Wangcong. Wangcong is principally engaged in property development which holds
properties under development in the PRC.

(v) On 30 November 2014, the Group acquired a property development project through the acquisition of
the 64% equity interest in Shenzhen Guozhengxiangqian Investment Development Co., Ltd. (深圳市國
正向前投資發展有限公司)(“GuoZheng”) from an independent third party at a cash consideration of
RMB21,120,000 which will be payable within one year.
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45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)
The above transactions were accounted for as purchase of assets and liabilities. Details of the net assets acquired in 
respect of the above transactions were summarised below:

RMB’000  

Net assets acquired
Property, plant and equipment 14,186
Investment properties 165,932
Interest in a joint venture 10,007
Prepaid lease payments 621,159
Deposits paid for acquisition of land use rights 309,718
Deferred tax assets 9,282
Properties for sale 4,324,725
Trade and other receivables 217,430
Amounts due from certain subsidiaries of the Company to Wangcong 330,687
Tax recoverables 17,355
Bank balances and cash 220,644
Trade and other payables (689,122)
Deposits received for sale of properties (702,998)
Amounts due to certain subsidiaries of the Company (427,507)
Amount due to a joint venture (10,000)
Tax payables (88,419)
Deferred tax liabilities (19,611)
Borrowings (1,084,084)  

3,219,384
Identifiable net assets attributable to:

Interest in a joint venture (174,465)
Non-controlling interests (39,971)  

3,004,948  
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RMB’000

Total consideration satisfied by:
Cash 410,490
Issue of shares as consideration of acquisition of subsidiaries 939,525
Deposit for acquisition of a subsidiary paid in 2013 100,000
Consideration receivables related to disposal of Wangcong to be 

waived upon termination (note 46(b)) 182,580
Consideration payable to a non-controlling shareholder (note) 965,528
Consideration payable to independent third parties (note 46) 406,825 

3,004,948

Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions
Cash consideration paid during the year 410,490
Bank balances and cash acquired (220,644) 

189,846

Note: According to the sales and purchase agreements, the remaining unpaid consideration due to TCL Corporation is interest bearing at 10.58% 
per annum and to be settled by three instalments and the last instalment to be settled before 6 January 2017, the unpaid consideration 
payables are as follows:

RMB’000

Consideration payables at date of acquisition 965,528
Interest expense for the year ended 31 December 2014 141,099 
Classified as amount due to a non-controlling shareholder 1,106,627
Interest expense for the year ended 31 December 2015 48,581
Repayment (435,288) 
Classified as amount due to a non-controlling shareholder 719,920 
Analysis for reporting purpose:

Repayable within one year 390,199
Repayable after one year 329,721 

719,920

45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through acquisitions of subsidiaries (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)
The above transactions were accounted for as purchase of assets and liabilities. Details of the net assets acquired in
respect of the above transactions were summarised below: (continued)

– F-444 –



For the year ended 31 December 2015

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses
For the year ended 31 December 2015
The Group acquired following at a total consideration of RMB910,327,000. The below subsidiaries were acquired so 
as to continue the expansion of the Group’s property operation.

Name of subsidiaries acquired Consideration
Acquisition 

in

Acquisition 
interest 

acquired Principal activities
RMB’000     

蘇州悅華置合物業服務有限公司 
Suzhou Yuihua Zhihe Property Service Co., Ltd. 

30,890 January 85% Provision of property operation services

蘇州易亞物業管理有限公司 
Suzhou Yiya Property Management operation 

services Co., Ltd.

19,470 January 90% Provision of property operation services

徐州市濱湖花園物業管理有限公司 
Xuzhou Binhu Huayuan Property operation 

services Management Co., Ltd.

7,880 January 90% Provision of property operation services

廣西南寧瀚新物業服務有限公司 
Guangxi Nanning Hanxin Property 

Service Co., Ltd.

3,280 January 80% Provision of property operation services

撫州鴻德物業有限公司 
Fuzhou Hongde Property Co., Ltd.

2,880 January 90% Provision of property operation services

長沙高盛物業管理有限公司 
Changsha Gaosheng Property Management 

Co., Ltd.

2,280 January 80% Provision of property operation services

鐵嶺世紀中天物業管理有限公司 
Tieling Shiji Zhongtian Property Management 

Co., Ltd.

1,590 January 100% Provision of property operation services

瀋陽天盛河畔物業管理有限公司 
Shenyang Tiansheng Hepan Property Management 

Co., Ltd.

1,500 January 95% Provision of property operation services

南昌名泰物業管理有限公司 
Nanchang Mingtai Property Management Co., Ltd.

1,000 January 90% Provision of property operation services
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Name of subsidiaries acquired Consideration
Acquisition 

in

Acquisition 
interest 

acquired Principal activities
RMB’000 

清遠市大管家物業管理有限公司 
Qingyuan Daguanjia Property Management 

Co., Ltd.

900 January 80% Provision of property operation services

陝西彩逸飛物業管理有限公司 
Shanxi Caiyifei Property Management Co., Ltd.

500 January 100% Provision of property operation services

陝西鑫昌物業管理有限公司 
Shanxi Xinchang Property Management Co., Ltd.

–
(note)

January 90% Provision of property operation services

寧夏天雨子越物業服務有限公司 
Ningxia Tianyuzi Property Service Co., Ltd.

–
(note)

January 80% Provision of property operation services

世紀物業管理有限公司 
Shiji Property Management Co., Ltd.

1,187 February 85% Provision of property operation services

鞍山市大德物業有限公司 
Anshan Dade Property Management Co., Ltd.

1,580 March 80% Provision of property operation services

深圳市開元國際物業管理有限公司 
Shenzhen Kaiyuan International Property 

Management Co., Ltd.

330,000 June 100% Provision of property operation services

常州江南中鑫物業服務有限公司 
Changzhou Jiangnan Zhongxin Property 

Service Co., Ltd. 

57,060 June 80% Provision of property operation services

蘇州萬寶物業管理有限公司 
Suzhou Wanbao Property Management Co., Ltd.

37,330 June 70% Provision of property operation services

揚州市恒久物業服務發展有限公司 
Yangzhou Hengjiu Property Service Development 

Co., Ltd.

10,660 June 80% Provision of property operation services

45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
The Group acquired following at a total consideration of RMB910,327,000. The below subsidiaries were acquired so
as to continue the expansion of the Group’s property operation. (continued)
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Name of subsidiaries acquired Consideration
Acquisition 

in

Acquisition 
interest 

acquired Principal activities
RMB’000     

廈門市創優物業管理有限公司 
Xiamen Chuangyou Property Management 

Co., Ltd.

10,040 June 70% Provision of property operation services

河南瑞祥物業管理有限公司 
Henan Ruixiang Property Management Co., Ltd.

6,160 June 80% Provision of property operation services

贛州錦通物業管理有限公司 
Ganzhou Jintong Property Management Co., Ltd.

6,260 June 100% Provision of property operation services

桂林市仁和物業服務有限公司 
Guilin Renhe Property Service Co., Ltd.

4,190 June 70% Provision of property operation services

四川蜀峰物業服務有限公司 
Sichuan Shufeng Property Service Co., Ltd.

–
(note)

July 80% Provision of property operation services

葫蘆島市萬廈物業管理有限公司
Huludao Wanxia Property Management Co., Ltd.

3,680 July 80% Provision of property operation services

杭州利軒物業管理有限公司 
Hangzhou Lixuan Property Management Co., Ltd.

11,325 July 80% Provision of property operation services

揚州市興達物業服務有限公司 
Yangzhou Xingda Property Service Co., Ltd.

2,450 July 90% Provision of property operation services

長沙祥旺物業管理有限公司 
Changsha Xiangwang Property Management 

Co., Ltd.

500 July 100% Provision of property operation services

廣西福來物業服務有限責任公司 
Guangxi Fulai Property Service Co., Ltd. 

(“Guangxi Fulai”)

47,800 July 80% Provision of property operation services

45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
The Group acquired following at a total consideration of RMB910,327,000. The below subsidiaries were acquired so 
as to continue the expansion of the Group’s property operation. (continued)
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Name of subsidiaries acquired Consideration
Acquisition 

in

Acquisition 
interest 

acquired Principal activities
RMB’000 

西安榮鑫物業管理有限公司 
Xi’an Rongxin Property Management Co., Ltd.

18,889 July 60% Provision of property operation services

襄陽江山新苑物業服務有限責任公司 
Xiangyang Jiangshan Xinyuan Property Service 

Co., Ltd.

1,661 July 80% Provision of property operation services

清遠金力物業管理有限公司 
Qingyuan Jinli Property Management Co., Ltd.

1,000 July 80% Provision of property operation services

榆林市榮鑫物業管理有限公司 
Yulin Rongxin Property Management Co., Ltd.

1,990 July 75% Provision of property operation services

武漢凱樂豐垠物業管理有限公司 
Wuhan Kaile Fengyin Property Management 

Co., Ltd.

3,080 July 70% Provision of property operation services

荊州市楚陽物業管理有限公司 
Jingzhou Chuyang Property Management Co., Ltd.

3,080 September 80% Provision of property operation services

成都合力物業服務有限公司 
Chengdu Heli Property Service Co., Ltd. 

(“Chengdu Heli”)

56,500 September 80% Provision of property operation services

成都忠信英聯華物業管理顧問有限公司 
Chengdu Zhongxin Yinglianhua Property 

Management Consultant Co., Ltd. 

380 September 80% Provision of property operation services

上海新貴盛物業管理有限公司 
Shanghai Xinguisheng Property Management 

Co., Ltd.

11,880 September 90% Provision of property operation services

河南聯盛物業服務有限公司 
Henan Liansheng Property Service Co., Ltd.

9,280 December 80% Provision of property operation services

45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
The Group acquired following at a total consideration of RMB910,327,000. The below subsidiaries were acquired so
as to continue the expansion of the Group’s property operation. (continued)
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Name of subsidiaries acquired Consideration
Acquisition 

in

Acquisition 
interest 

acquired Principal activities
RMB’000     

無錫市盛泰物業管理有限公司 
Wuxi Shengtai Property Management Co., Ltd.

5,580 December 80% Provision of property operation services

上海通翼物業有限公司 
Shanghai Tongyi Property Co., Ltd.

2,880 December 51% Provision of property operation services

南昌幸福物業管理有限公司
Nanchang Xingfu Property Management Co., Ltd. 

8,180 December 70% Provision of property operation services

江西省君安物業管理有限公司
Jiangxi Junan Property Management Co., Ltd. 

1,995 November 100% Provision of property operation services

Morning Star Group Limited (“Morning Star”) 181,560 December 100% Provision of travel agency services

Note: Consideration incurred less than RMB1,000.

Total consideration transferred

RMB’000  

Cash 703,815
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries in 2014 68,385
Consideration payables due within one year included in trade and other payables (note 36) 138,127  

910,327  

Acquisition-related costs were insignificant and have been recognised as an expense in the current year and included 
in the “administrative expenses” line item in the condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
The Group acquired following at a total consideration of RMB910,327,000. The below subsidiaries were acquired so 
as to continue the expansion of the Group’s property operation. (continued)
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45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
Total consideration transferred
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the dates of acquisitions are as follows:

RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 99,141
Investment properties 15,367
Intangible assets 190,628
Deferred tax assets 13,791
Trade and other receivables 170,877
Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders 66,209
Amounts due from subsidiaries of the Company 21,216
Financial assets designated as at FVTPL 54,158
Bank balances and cash 174,795
Trade and other payables (358,592)
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders (465)
Amounts due to subsidiaries of the Company (49,055)
Tax liabilities (10,680)
Deferred tax liabilities (60,586)
Borrowings (299) 

326,505

The trade and other receivables acquired with a fair value of RMB170,877,000 approximate its gross contractual 
amount.
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45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
Non-controlling interests
The non-controlling interests arising from the acquisitions of non-wholly owned subsidiaries were measured by
reference to the proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets at the acquisition date and
amounted to RMB15,809,000.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions

RMB’000

Consideration transferred 910,327
Non-controlling interests 15,809
Less: fair value of net assets acquired (326,505) 

Goodwill arising on acquisitions (note 20) 599,631 

At the dates of acquisitions in 2015, goodwill of RMB599,631,000 has been determined provisionally based on the 
acquirees’ provisional fair value of net identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill arose on the acquisition of subsidiaries 
because these acquisitions included the benefit of expected synergies and the future profitability as at acquisition date.

Intangible assets of RMB190,628,000 in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries under property management and 
other segments have been recognised by the Group.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions

RMB’000

Cash consideration paid (703,815)
Less: bank balances and cash acquired 174,795 

(529,020)
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45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Name of subsidiaries acquired Consideration
Acquisition 

date

Equity 
interest 

acquired Principal activities
RMB’000 

佛山市南海鉅隆物業管理有限公司 
Foshan Nanhai Julong Property Management 

Co., Ltd. (“Foshan Julong”)

3,800 December 100% Provision of property operation services

上海銀順物業管理有限公司
Shanghai Yinshun Property Management Co., Ltd. 

(“Shanghai Yinshun”) 

3,480 July 80% Provision of property operation services

江蘇城置物業服務有限公司
Jiangsu Chengzhi Property Service Co., Ltd. 

(“Jiangsu Chengzhi”)

–
(note)

July 51% Provision of property operation services

銀川都市佳物業服務有限公司
Yinchuan Dushijia Property Services Co., Ltd. 

(“Yinchuan Dushijia”)

400 July 68% Provision of property operation services

湖北楓林物業服務有限公司
Hubei Fenglin Property Services 

Co., Ltd. (“Hubei Fenglin”)

20,000 July 70% Provision of property operation services

杭州高盛物業管理有限公司
Hangzhou Gaosheng Property Management Co., Ltd. 

(“Hangzhou Gaosheng”)

16,880 August 70% Provision of property operation services

河南華璟物業服務有限公司
Henan Huajing Property Services Co., Ltd. 

(“Henan Huajing”) 

1,880 July 80% Provision of property operation services

宜昌坤達物業有限公司
Yichang Kunda Property Co., Ltd. (“Yichang Kunda”)

2,000 September 70% Provision of property operation services

江西居安物業管理有限公司
Jiangxi Juan Property Management Co., Ltd.

(“Jiangxi Juan”)

800 August 100% Provision of property operation services

南京安居物業有限公司 
Nanjing Anju Property Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Anju”)

15,000 August 87% Provision of property operation services

哈爾濱盛恒基物業管理有限公司
Harbin Shenghengji Property Management Co., Ltd. 

(“Harbin Shenghengji”)

500 June 100% Provision of property operation services

九江天宏物業服務有限公司
Jiujiang Tianhong Property Service Co., Ltd. 

(“Jiujiang Tianhong”)

2,000 September 70% Provision of property operation services

Steadlink Asset Management PTE Ltd (“Steadlink”) 5,865 June 68% Provision of property operation services

Note: Consideration incurred less than RMB1,000.
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45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)
Total consideration transferred

RMB’000  

Cash 53,133
Consideration payable due within one year included in trade and other payables (note 36) 19,472  

72,605  

Acquisition-related costs were insignificant and have been recognised as an expense in the current year and included 
in the “administrative expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the dates of acquisition are as follows:

RMB’000  

Intangible assets 29,448
Property, plant and equipment 866
Trade and other receivables 26,104
Bank balances and cash 13,345
Trade and other payables (37,213)
Amounts due to certain subsidiaries of the Company (1,069)
Tax payables (153)
Deferred tax liabilities (7,362)  

23,966  

The trade and other receivables acquired with a fair value of approximately RMB26,104,000 approximate its gross 
contractual amount.
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45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Acquisition of businesses (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)
Non-controlling interests
The non-controlling interests arising from the acquisition of non-wholly owned subsidiaries were measured by 
reference to the proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets at the acquisition date and 
amounted to RMB6,012,000.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

RMB’000  

Consideration transferred 72,605
Non-controlling interests 6,012
Less: fair value of net assets acquired (23,966)  

Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 20) 54,651  

At the dates of acquisitions in 2014, goodwill of RMB54,651,000 had been determined provisionally based on the 
acquirees’ provisional fair value of net identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill arose on the acquisition of subsidiaries 
because these acquisitions included the benefit of expected synergies and the future profitability as at acquisition date. 

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition was expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Intangible assets of RMB214,438,000 in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries under property management 
segment have been recognised by the Group.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions

RMB’000  

Cash consideration paid 53,133
Less: bank balances and cash acquired (13,345)  

39,788  
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45. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries (continued)

(c) Acquisitions of additional interests in subsidiaries
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group further acquired additional 36% equity interest in 

Guozheng from a non-controlling shareholder, and the Group’s shareholding of Guozheng increased from 
64% to 100%. The difference between the consideration of RMB11,880,000 and proportionate share of 
the Guozheng’s net assets of RMB9,831,000 attributable to the Group was charged to the special reserve of 
RMB2,049,000.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group disposed of its 49% and 40% equity interests in Guilin 
Wanhao Property Development Co., Ltd. 桂林萬豪房地產開發有限公司 (“Wanhao”) and Chengdu 
Zhifu Property Development Co., Ltd. 成都置富房地產開發有限公司 (“Zhifu”) respectively, indirectly 
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, to an independent third party at a total cash consideration of 
RMB399,240,000, which should be settled before 31 March 2015. Due to the financial difficulty of the buyer, 
the consideration cannot be settled on 31 March 2015, the Group and the buyer entered into termination 
agreements pursuant to which the transaction for the disposal of 49% and 40% equity interest in Wanhao and 
Zhifu was terminated and the consideration receivable of RMB399,240,000 due from the buyer was waived.

Accordingly, the Group acquired back 49% and 40% equity interests of Wanhao and Zhifu respectively 
from non-controlling shareholders. The difference between the consideration of RMB399,240,000 and 
proportionate share of the subsidiaries’ net assets of RMB359,580,000 attributable to the Group was charged 
to the special reserve of RMB39,660,000. Wanhao and Zhifu were engaged in property development which 
holds properties under development in the PRC. Upon termination of the aforesaid transactions, the cash 
consideration of RMB36,990,000 received in 2014 was refunded to the buyer, the partial consideration of 
RMB200,000,000 to be settled in exchange for construction work was cancelled and was recognised in trade 
payable and the consideration receivable of RMB162,250,000 was waived.
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46. Disposal of Subsidiaries

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(i) On 8 January 2015, the Group disposed of its AFS investment through the disposal of the entire equity

interests of its holding company, Charmfull Limited, to an independent third party for a consideration of
RMB40,382,000.

(ii) Subsequent to the disposed of 45% equity interest in TCL King electronics (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. TCL 王牌
電子（深圳）有限公司 (“TCL King”), as mentioned in note 46(b), on 24 September 2015, the group further
disposed the remaining 55% equity interest in TCL King through disposal of entire equity interest in Talent
Bright International Limited, its holding company to the same independent third party, for cash considerations
of RMB429,000,000. TCL King was engaged in property development.

(iii) On 30 September 2015, the Group disposed of its entire equity interest in Chengdu Kaizhen Co., Ltd. 成都
凱鎮有限公司 (“Chengdu Kaizhen”) to an independent third party for a consideration of RMB355,000,000.
Chengdu Kaizhen was engaged in provision of hotel services.

(iv) On 15 December 2015, the Group disposed of its entire equity interest in Shenzhen Fantasia Hotel
Management Co., Ltd. 深圳花樣年酒店管理有限公司 (“Shenzhen Fantasia hotel management”) to an
independent third party for a consideration of RMB290,000,000. Shenzhen Fantasia was engaged in hotel
management.

(v) On 27 December 2015, the Group disposed of its entire equity interest in Fantasia Commercial
Management (HK) Co.,Ltd (“Fantasia Commercial”) to an independent third party for a consideration of
RMB1,100,000,000. Fantasia Commercial was engaged in hotel management. As at 31 December 2015,
RMB500,000,000 has been received and the remaining consideration of RMB600,000,000 will be settled
within 30 days from the date of the agreement entered by the Group and the independent third party.
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46. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
The above transactions are accounted for as disposal of subsidiaries. Details of the net assets disposed of in respect of 
these transactions are summarised below:

RMB’000  

Consideration satisfied by:
Cash 1,433,920
Consideration receivable due within one year (note 30) 761,000
Consideration payable related to acquisition of the holding company of 

AFS investment to be offset upon the disposal 19,462  

2,214,382  

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment 83,871
Investment properties 1,789,474
AFS investment 38,910
Trade and other receivables 32,987
Bank balances and cash 1,441
Amounts due from subsidiaries of the Company 53,145
Trade and other payables (320)
Deferred tax liabilities (295,220)  

Net assets disposed of 1,704,288  

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
Cash consideration 1,433,920
Consideration receivable 761,000
Consideration payable related to acquisition of the holding company of 

AFS investment to be offset upon the disposal 19,462
Net assets disposed of (1,704,288)
Non-controlling interest 279,945  

Gain on disposal 790,039  

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration 1,433,920
Bank balances and cash disposed of (1,441)  

1,432,479  
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46. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014
(i) On 29 December 2014, the Group disposed of its 61% equity interest in Topsearch Printed Circuits (Shenzhen)

Ltd 至卓飛高線路板（深圳）有限公司 (“Topsearch Printed Circuits”) to an independent third party for a
cash consideration of approximately RMB347,670,000. Topsearch Printed Circuits was engaged in property
development which holds properties for sale in the PRC.

(ii) On 8 December 2014, the Group disposed of its 54% equity interest in Shenzhen Tongzhinian Equity
Investment Fund Co., Ltd. 深圳市同之年股權投資基金有限公司 (“Tongzhinian Fund”) to an independent
third party for a cash consideration of approximately RMB7,775,000. Tongzhinian Fund was engaged in
equity investment in the PRC.

The above transactions were accounted for as disposal of subsidiaries. Details of the net assets disposed in respect of 
the above transactions were summarised below:

RMB’000

Consideration satisfied by:
Cash 68,999
Consideration receivable due within one year (note 30) 286,446 

355,445

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment 6
Deferred tax assets 512
Properties for sale 341,047
Trade and other receivables 21,791
Bank balances and cash 14,546
Trade and other payables (31,380)
Borrowings (156,880) 

Net assets disposed of 189,642 

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
Cash consideration 68,999
Consideration receivable (note 30) 286,446
Net assets disposed of (189,642)
Non-controlling interests 57,904 

Gain on disposal 223,707 

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration 68,999
Bank balances and cash disposed of (14,546) 

54,453
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46. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries without loss of control
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group disposed of its 30% equity interest in Shenzhen Home 

E&E Commercial Services Group Co., Ltd 深圳市美易家商務服務集團有限公司 (“Home E&E”), which 
was held by the Group through a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, to an independent third party, 
for a cash consideration of RMB1,500,000. Home E&E was engaged in provision of property management 
service.

The difference of RMB8,670,000 between the consideration received of RMB1,500,000 and the proportionate 
share of the subsidiary’s net assets by the non-controlling shareholder amounting to RMB10,170,000 is 
credited to the special reserve of the Group.

(ii) On 30 June 2015, the Group disposed of its 45% equity interest in TCL King which was held by the 
Company, to an independent third party, for a cash consideration of RMB300,000,000.

The difference of RMB29,811,000 between the consideration of RMB300,000,000 and the proportionate 
share of TCL King’s net assets held by the non-controlling shareholder amounting to RMB270,189,000 was 
credited to the special reserve of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2014
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group disposed of its 49% equity interest in Wanhao, which 

was held by the Group through a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, to an independent third party, for 
a cash consideration of RMB198,900,000. Wanhao was engaged in provision of property development.

The difference of RMB28,623,000 between the consideration received of RMB198,900,000 and the 
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets by the non-controlling shareholder amounting to 
RMB170,277,000 is credited to the special reserve of the Group.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group disposed of its 40% equity interest in Zhifu, which was 
held by the Group through a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, to an independent third party, for a 
cash consideration of RMB200,340,000. Zhifu was engaged in provision of property development.

The difference of RMB8,256,000 between the consideration received of RMB200,340,000 and the 
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets by the non-controlling shareholder amounting to 
RMB192,084,000 was credited to the special reserve of the Group.
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46. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries without loss of control (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014

RMB’000

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration received 36,990
Settlement in exchange for construction work (note 53(iv)) 200,000
Consideration receivables (note 30) 162,250 

399,240

Net cash inflow arising on deemed disposal:
Cash consideration 36,990 

(c) Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries resulting in loss of control
For the year ended 31 December 2014
On 30 June 2014, the Group disposed of 51% equity interests in both Wangcong (as detailed in note 45(a)(iv)) and
Huafeng, previous indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, to an independent third party resulting in
lost control upon completion of the transactions. The remaining equity interests in Wangcong and Yinzhuang are
classified as interests in joint ventures. The joint ventures are principally engaged in property development which
hold properties under development in the PRC.

These transactions were accounted for as disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries resulting in loss of control. Details
are summarised below:
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46. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

(c) Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries resulting in loss of control (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)
Assets and liabilities derecognised at dates of loss of control of the disposed subsidiaries are as follows:

RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 1,247
Deferred tax assets 14,035
Properties under development for sale 2,270,964
Trade and other receivables 43,013
Amounts due from certain subsidiaries of the Company to Wangcong (note) 419,945
Tax recoverable 17,633
Restricted bank deposits 22,707
Bank balances and cash 28,128
Trade and other payables (98,906)
Amounts due to certain subsidiaries of the Company (10,020)
Deposits received for sale of properties (796,020)
Borrowings (1,150,000)  

762,726

RMB’000

Less: retained equity interest held by the Group – classified as interests in joint ventures (373,736) 

388,990

Satisfied by:
Consideration receivables due within one year (note 30) 206,410
Consideration receivables upon termination of disposal transaction (note 46(a)(iv)) 182,580 

388,990

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Bank balances and cash disposed of (28,128) 

Note: Amount due from certain subsidiaries of the Company, which is shown as amounts due to joint ventures on the consolidated statement of 
financial position of the Group, is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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47. Operating Lease Commitments

The Group as lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 12,684 7,997
In the second to the fifth year inclusive – 6,280 

12,684 14,277

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain offices premises. Leases are negotiated for an 
average term of 1 to 5 years with fixed rentals.

The Group as lessor
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease 
payments:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 145,236 123,237
In the second to the fifth year inclusive 347,825 328,331
After the fifth year 86,184 77,661 

579,245 529,229

Property rental income represents rentals receivable by the Group. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 1 to 18 years 
with fixed rentals.
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48. Capital and Other Commitments

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Construction commitments in respect of properties for sale contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements 3,736,077 4,307,410   

Construction commitments in respect of investment properties contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements 130,719 138,089   

Consideration committed in respect of capital expenditure in respect
of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment authorised but
not yet contracted 39,575 134,532   

Consideration committed in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements 84,556 21,335   

Consideration committed in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries authorised
but not yet contracted – 241,936   

49. Share Option Schemes

(a) The Company
The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 27 October 
2009 for the primary purposes of providing incentives to certain directors and employees of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (“Eligible Employees”). Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company is authorised to grant 
options at a consideration of HK$1 per option to the Eligible Employees to subscribe for shares in the Company 
(“Shares”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme 
(“Options”) and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not, in the absence of shareholders’ approval, 
in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. Options granted to a substantial 
shareholder or an independent non-executive director in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a 
value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The exercisable period of an option is determined by the directors at their discretion. The expiry date of the option 
may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company which shall not be later than the expiry day of the 
Scheme.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the greater of: (i) the 
closing price of the Company on the offer date; (ii) the average of the closing price of the Company’s shares for 
the five trading days immediately preceding the offer of the options and (iii) the nominal value per share of the 
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, 19,325,000 share options were lapsed.

As at 31 December 2015, the total number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of all options granted under the 
Scheme is 85,944,000 (2014: 108,990,000) of HK$0.1 each, representing approximately 1.5% (2014: 1.9%) of the 
issued share capital of the Company.
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49. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(a) The Company (continued)
Details of the share options granted under the Scheme is as follows:

Category of
Grantees Date of grant

Exercise price
per share Vesting period Exercisable period

HK$ 

Directors 29 August 2011 0.836 29/8/2011–28/8/2012 29/8/2012–28/8/2021
29/8/2011–28/8/2013 29/8/2013–28/8/2021
29/8/2011–28/8/2014 29/8/2014–28/8/2021

16 October 2012 0.8 16/10/2012–15/10/2013 16/10/2013–15/10/2022
16/10/2012–15/10/2014 16/10/2014–15/10/2022
16/10/2012–15/10/2015 16/10/2015–15/10/2022

Employees 29 August 2011 0.836 29/8/2011–28/8/2012 29/8/2012–28/8/2021
29/8/2011–28/8/2013 29/8/2013–28/8/2021
29/8/2011–28/8/2014 29/8/2014–28/8/2021

16 October 2012 0.8 16/10/2012–15/10/2013 16/10/2013–15/10/2022
16/10/2012–15/10/2014 16/10/2014–15/10/2022
16/10/2012–15/10/2015 16/10/2015–15/10/2022

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held by employees and directors during the 
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014:

Category of
Grantees Date of grant Vesting period

Outstanding
at

1 January
2014

Granted
during

the year

Transfer
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Outstanding
at

31 December
2014

Granted
during

the year

Transfer
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Outstanding
at

31 December
2015

(note)

Directors 29 August 2011 29.8.2011–28.8.2012 1,318,000 – 381,000 (80,000) – 1,619,000 – – (264,000) (197,000) 1,158,000
29.8.2011–28.8.2014 2,636,000 – 1,143,000 (240,000) – 3,539,000 – – (528,000) (394,000) 2,617,000
29.8.2011–28.8.2015 9,226,000 – 2,286,000 (480,000) – 11,032,000 – – (1,847,000) (1,380,000) 7,805,000

16 October 2012 16.10.2014–15.10.2014 1,595,000 – 277,000 (80,000) – 1,792,000 – – (340,000) (17,000) 1,435,000
16.10.2014–15.10.2015 3,190,000 – 831,000 (240,000) – 3,781,000 – – (681,000) (33,000) 3,067,000
16.10.2014–15.10.2015 11,165,000 – 1,662,000 (480,000) – 12,347,000 – – (2,383,000) (116,000) 9,848,000

29,130,000 – 6,580,000 (1,600,000) – 34,110,000 – – (6,043,000) (2,137,000) 25,930,000

Employees 29 August 2011 29.8.2011–28.8.2012 4,093,000 – (381,000) (267,000) (9,000) 3,436,000 – – (398,000) (130,000) 2,908,000
29.8.2011–28.8.2014 8,186,000 – (1,143,000) (454,000) (18,000) 6,571,000 – – (796,000) (260,000) 5,515,000
29.8.2011–28.8.2015 28,651,000 – (2,286,000) (1,949,000) (63,000) 24,353,000 – – (2,786,000) (909,000) 20,658,000

16 October 2012 16.10.2014–15.10.2014 4,617,000 – (277,000) (285,000) (3,000) 4,052,000 – – (931,000) (28,000) 3,093,000
16.10.2014–15.10.2015 9,234,000 – (831,000) (489,000) (7,000) 7,907,000 – – (1,860,000) (57,000) 5,990,000
16.10.2014–15.10.2015 32,319,000 – (1,662,000) (2,072,000) (24,000) 28,561,000 – – (6,511,000) (200,000) 21,850,000

87,100,000 – (6,580,000) (5,516,000) (124,000) 74,880,000 – – (13,282,000) (1,584,000) 60,014,000

Total 116,230,000 – – (7,116,000) (124,000) 108,990,000 – – (19,325,000) (3,721,000) 85,944,000

Exercisable at the end of the year 68,082,000 85,944,000

Note: Wang Liang (王亮) was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 6 January 2014 (disclosed in note 12) so that the share options 
granted to Wang Liang in prior years are classified into category of directors in 2014.
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49. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(a) The Company (continued)
The closing of the shares on the date of grant was HK$0.77 at 16 October 2012. Binomial Option Pricing Model 
had been used to estimate the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair 
value of the share options are based on the Company’s best estimate. The value of an option varies with different 
variables of certain subjective assumptions. The inputs into the model are as follows:

16 October 
2012  

Market price HK$0.77
Exercise price HK$0.80
Expected volatility 44.87%
Risk-free rate 0.66%
Expected dividend yield 5.12%

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB2,464,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 
RMB3,353,000) in relation to share options granted by the Company.
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49. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(b) Colour Life
A subsidiary of the Company, Colour Life, operates a share option scheme (the “Colour Life’s Scheme”). The Colour
Life’s Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 11 June 2014 for the primary purposes of providing
incentives to certain directors and employees of the Colour Life and its subsidiaries (“Eligible Employees”). Under
the Colour Life’s Scheme, the Board of Directors of Colour Life is authorised to grant options at a consideration
of HK$1 per option respectively to the Eligible Employees to subscribe for shares of Colour Life (“Colour Life’s
Shares”).

The maximum number of Colour Life’s Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Colour Life’s Scheme (“Colour Life’s Options”) and any other share option schemes of Colour Life shall not, in
the absence of shareholders’ approval, in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of Colour Life in issue at any point in
time. Colour Life’s Options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director in excess
of 0.1% of Colour Life’s share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by
Colour Life’s shareholders.

The exercisable period of an option is determined by the directors of Colour Life at their discretion. The expiry date
of Colour Life’s Options may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Colour Life which shall not be later
than the expiry day of Colour Life’s Scheme.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of Colour Life, and will not be less than the greater of: (i) the closing
price of Colour Life on the offer date; (ii) the average of the closing price of Colour Life’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the offer of Colour Life’s options and (iii) the nominal value per share of Colour Life.

As at 31 December 2015, the total number of Colour Life’s shares to be issued upon the exercise of all options
granted under the Colour Life’s Scheme is 66,427,000 (2014: 45,000,000) of HK$0.1 each, representing
approximately 6.6% (2014: 4.5%) of the issued share capital of Colour Life.
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49. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(b) Colour Life (continued)
Details of the share options granted under Colour Life’s Scheme is as follows:

Category of
Grantees Date of grant

Exercise price
per share Vesting period Exercisable period

HK$     

Directors 29 September 2014 6.66 N/A 29/9/2014–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2015 29/9/2015–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2016 29/9/2016–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2017 29/9/2017–28/9/2024

30 April 2015 11.00 30/4/2015–29/4/2016 30/4/2016–29/4/2025
30/4/2015–29/4/2017 30/4/2017–29/4/2025
30/4/2015–29/4/2018 30/4/2018–29/4/2025

Employees and
non-controlling
shareholders of
certain subsidiaries

29 September 2015 6.66 N/A 29/9/2014–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2015 29/9/2015–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2016 29/9/2016–28/9/2024
29/9/2014–28/9/2017 29/9/2017–28/9/2024

30 April 2015 11.00 30/4/2015–29/4/2016 30/4/2016–29/4/2025
30/4/2015–29/4/2017 30/4/2017–29/4/2025
30/4/2015–29/4/2018 30/4/2018–29/4/2025

The following table of the company discloses movements of Colour Life’s share options held by employees and 
directors during the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014:

Category of
Grantees Date of grant Vesting period

Outstanding
at

1 January
2014

Granted
during

the year

Transfer
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Outstanding
at

31 December
2014

Granted
during

the year

Transfer
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Outstanding
at

31 December
2015

              

Directors 29 September 2014 N/A – 560,000 – – – 560,000 – – – – 560,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2015 – 1,270,000 – – – 1,270,000 – – – – 1,270,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2016 – 1,270,000 – – – 1,270,000 – – – – 1,270,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2017 – 711,000 – – – 711,000 – – – – 711,000

30 April 2015 30/4/2015–29/4/2016 – – – – – – 477,000 – – – 477,000
30/4/2015–29/4/2017 – – – – – – 477,000 – – – 477,000
30/4/2015–29/4/2018 – – – – – – 476,000 – – – 476,000

              

– 3,811,000 – – – 3,811,000 1,430,000 – – – 5,241,000
              

Employees and
non-controlling
shareholders of

29 September 2014 N/A – 6,107,000 – – – 6,107,000 – – (308,000) (119,000) 5,680,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2015 – 13,730,000 – – – 13,730,000 – – (1,070,000) – 12,660,000
29/9/2014–28/9/2016 – 13,730,000 – – – 13,730,000 – – (1,070,000) – 12,660,000

certain subsidiaries 29/9/2014–28/9/2017 – 7,622,000 – – – 7,622,000 – – (763,000) – 6,859,000
30 April 2015 30/4/2015–29/4/2016 – – – – – – 7,857,000 – (81,000) – 7,776,000

30/4/2015–29/4/2017 – – – – – – 7,857,000 – (81,000) – 7,776,000
30/4/2015–29/4/2018 – – – – – – 7,856,000 – (81,000) – 7,775,000

              

– 41,189,000 – – – 41,189,000 23,570,000 – (3,454,000) (119,000) 61,186,000
              

Total – 45,000,000 – – – 45,000,000 25,000,000 – (3,454,000) (119,000) 66,427,000
              

Exercisable at the end of the year 6,667,000 20,170,000
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49. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(b) Colour Life (continued)
The closing price of Colour Life’s shares on the date of grant was HK$6.66 at 29 September 2014 and HK$10.88 on
30 April 2015, respectively. Binomial Option Pricing Model had been used to estimate the fair value of Colour Life’s
options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share options are based on Colour
Life’s best estimate. The value of Colour Life’s option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.
The inputs into the model are as follows:

30 April
2015

29 September
2014

Market price HK$10.88 HK$6.66
Exercise price HK$11.00 HK$6.66
Expected volatility 46.26% 48.82%
Risk-free rate 1.63% 2.01%
Expected dividend yield 0.83% 0.0%

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the estimated fair value of Colour Life’s options at the date of grant was 
RMB104,714,000 (2014: RMB114,802,000). Colour Life recognised the total expense of RMB88,431,000 (2014: 
RMB29,780,000) as share option reserve included in other non-controlling interests for the year ended 31 December 
2015 in relation to share options granted by Colour Life.

(c) Morning Star
A wholly owned subsidiary of the Company acquired during the year, Morning Star, operates a share option scheme
(the “Morning Star’s Scheme”). The Morning Star’s Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 24
December 2015 for the primary purposes of providing incentives to certain directors and employees of the Morning
Star and its subsidiaries (“Eligible Employees”), and will expire on 30 April 2019. According to the Morning Star’s
Scheme, the Board of Directors of Morning Star is authorised to grant options at a consideration of HK$1 per option
respectively to the Eligible Employees to subscribe for shares of Morning Star (“Morning Star’s Shares”).

The exercisable period of an option is determined by the directors of Morning Star at their discretion. The expiry
date of Morning Star’s Options may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Morning Star which shall not be
later than the expiry day of Morning Star’s Scheme.

As at 31 December 2015, the total number of Morning Star’s shares to be issued upon the exercise of all options
granted under the Morning Star’s Scheme is 7,000,000 of HK$1 each, representing approximately 7% of the issued
share capital of Morning Star.
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49. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(c) Morning Star (continued)
Details of the share options granted under Morning Star’s Scheme is as follows:

Category of
Grantees Date of grant

Granted during
the year Vesting period Exercisable period Vesting condition      

Eligible Employees 24 December 2015 2,000,000 25/12/2015–30/3/2017 1/4/2017–30/4/2017 the net profit of Morning Star
for year ending 31 December
2016 meets RMB10,000,000

3,000,000 25/12/2015–30/3/2018 1/4/2018–30/4/2018 the net profit of Morning Star 
for year ending 31 December 
2017 meets RMB20,000,000

2,000,000 25/12/2015–30/3/2019 1/4/2019–30/4/2019 the net profit of Morning Star 
for year ending 31 December 
2018 meets RMB40,000,000

Binomial Option Pricing Model had been used to estimate the fair value of these share – based payment transactions 
with cash alternative arrangements. The estimated fair value of the share options of Morning Star is RMB5,743,000 
which represented the goods or services received from the Employees. The variables and assumptions used in 
computing the fair value of the share options are based on the management of the Company’s best estimate. The 
value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. The inputs into the model are as 
follows:

24 December
2015  

Share price HK$1.85
Exercise price HK$1.00
Expected volatility 45.5%-54.6%
Risk-free rate 0.25%-0.84%
Expected dividend yield 0.0%

Morning Star recognised the total expense of RMB28,000 as share option reserve included in other non-controlling 
interests for the year ended 31 December 2015 in relation to share options granted by Morning Star.
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50. Retirement Benefits Plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group
contributes certain percentage of relevant payroll costs to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, which contribution is
matched by employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC
Government. The Company’s subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll to the retirement
benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

The Group made contributions to the retirement benefits schemes of RMB77,208,000 (2014: RMB62,218,000).

51. Contingent Liabilities

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

(a) Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities granted to
purchasers of the Group’s properties 6,441,957 4,778,135 

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks in connection with the 
mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is 
default of the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage loans 
together with accrued interests thereon and any penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to banks. The Group is then 
entitled to take over the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of the 
relevant mortgage loans and ends after the buyer obtained the individual property ownership certificate.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of guarantee contracts is insignificant at initial recognition. Also, no provision 
for the guarantee contracts at the end of the reporting period is recognised as the default risk is low.

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

(b) Financial guarantees given to a bank for the banking facilities
granted to a joint venture, Novena 513,098 518,925 

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of banking facilities granted by a bank to Novena. In the opinion of the 
directors, the fair value of guarantee contract is insignificant at initial recognition. Also, no provision for the guarantee 
contracts at the end of the reporting period is recognised as the default risk is low.
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52. Related Party Disclosures

During the year, in addition to those disclosed in elsewhere at the consolidated financial statements, the Group had 
following significant transactions with related parties:

(a) Related party transactions

Related parties Relationship Transactions 2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000     

Cube Architecture An associate of Shenzhen
Tiankuo Investment 
Development Co., Ltd. (深圳
市天闊投資發展有限公司), 
a related company controlled 
by Ms. Zeng Jie, Baby, the 
controlling shareholder and 
director of the Company

Design service 
fee incurred

1,044 1,740

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year is as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Short-term benefits 89,449 67,875
Post-employment benefits 13,998 9,214
Share-based payments 2,575 2,536   

106,022 79,625   

(c) Others

(i) As at 31 December 2015, certain directors of the Company provided joint guarantees to the banks and 
trust company to secure the Group’s bank and other borrowings amounting to RMB275,320,000 (2014: 
RMB59,640,000) in aggregate.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group had sold certain properties to its key management 
personnel (not including the directors of the Company) of the Group, at a cash consideration of 
RMB16,840,000 (2014: RMB3,005,000).
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53. Major Non-Cash Transactions

For the year ended 31 December 2015
(a) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group entered into sale and purchase agreements with several

contractors for the sale of properties amounting to RMB116,516,000 in exchange for the construction work provided
by the contractor equivalent to RMB116,516,000.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the group entered into termination agreements with acquirer of equity
interests in Wanhao and Zhifu. Corresponding settlement agreement regarding to consideration to consideration
receivables of RMB200,000,000 in exchange for the construction work provided by the contractor equivalent to
RMB200,000,000 was cancelled.

For the year ended 31 December 2014
(c) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a contractor

for the sale of properties amounting to RMB282,949,000 in exchange for the construction work provided by the
contractor equivalent to RMB282,949,000.

(d) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group acquired Huizhou TCL from TCL Corporation (as detailed in
note 45(a)). The consideration of RMB939,525,000 has been settled by the issuance of 863,600,074 ordinary shares
in the Company to TCL Corporation.

(e) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group entered into a settlement agreement with acquirer of equity
interests in Wanhao and Zhifu and a contractor for the settlement of consideration receivables of RMB200,000,000
in exchange for the construction work provided by the contractor equivalent to RMB200,000,000.

54. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company

(a) Material subsidiaries of the Company
Particulars of principal subsidiaries indirectly held, unless otherwise stated, by the Company as at 31 December 2015
and 2014 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment

Issued and 

fully paid share/

registered capital

Proportion 

ownership interest 

held by the Group Principal activities Legal form

2015 2014  

Colour Life Services Group 
Co., Ltd (“Colour Life”)Δ

The Cayman Islands 
16 March 2011

HK$100,000,000 50% 50% Investment holding Limited liability 
company

花樣年集團（中國）有限公司
Fantasia Group (China) 

Company Limited*

The PRC 
20 January 2006

RMB1,624,843,500 100% 100% Investment holding 
and property 
development

Limited liability 
company

深圳市花樣年地產集團有限公司
Shenzhen Fantasia Real Estate 

Group Limited* (“Shenzhen Fantasia”)

The PRC 
28 September 1996

RMB150,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding, 
property development 
and investment

Limited liability 
company 
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Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment

Issued and 

fully paid share/

registered capital

Proportion 

ownership interest 

held by the Group Principal activities Legal form

2015 2014       

成都市花樣年房地產開發有限公司
Chengdu Fantasia Real Estate 

Company Limited*

The PRC 
18 October 2001

RMB75,610,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company and 
investment

深圳市花千里房地產開發有限公司
Shenzhen Huaqianli Real Estate 

Investment Development 
Company Limited*

The PRC 
28 August 2006

RMB660,339,487 100% 100% Investment holding Limited liability 
company

深圳市彩生活物業管理有限公司
Shenzhen Colour Life Property 

Management Company Limited 
(“Shenzhen Colour Life”)

The PRC 
11 December 2000

RMB35,000,000 49.61% 49.61% Provision of property 
operation services

Limited liability 
company

深圳置富房地產開發有限公司
Shenzhen Zhifu Real Estate Investment 

Development Company Limited*

The PRC 
1 July 1994

RMB946,843,500 100% 100% Property development and 
investment

Limited liability 
company

深圳市彩生活網絡服務有限公司
Shenzhen Colour Life Network 

Services Company Limited*#

The PRC 
12 June 2007

RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Provision of property 
operation services

Limited liability 
company

深圳市開元同濟樓宇科技有限公司 
Shenzhen Kaiyuan Tongji Building 

Science & Technology 
Company Limited*#

The PRC 
15 November 2001

RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Provision of security 
system design, 
installation and 
maintenance services

Limited liability 
company

花樣年（成都）生態旅遊開發有限公司
Fantasia (Chengdu) Ecological 

Tourism Development 
Company Limited*

The PRC 
7 September 2006

RMB1,344,970,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

54. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(a) Material subsidiaries of the Company (continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment

Issued and 

fully paid share/

registered capital

Proportion 

ownership interest 

held by the Group Principal activities Legal form

2015 2014  

成都花萬里置業有限公司
Chengdu Huawanli Real Estate 

Company Limited*

The PRC 
25 October 2005

RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property development and 
investment

Limited liability 
company

成都花千里置業有限公司
Chengdu Huaqianli Real Estate 

Company Limited*

The PRC 
6 November 2006

RMB704,680,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都花百里置業有限公司
Chengdu Huabaili Real Estate 

Company Limited*

The PRC 
22 May 2003

RMB270,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

深圳市康年科技有限公司
Shenzhen Kangnian Technology 

Company Limited*

The PRC 
9 February 2007 

RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property development and 
investment

Limited liability 
company

四川西美投資有限公司
Sichuan Ximei Investment Company 

Limited*

The PRC 
7 June 2004

RMB670,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都花樣年望叢文化發展有限公司
Chengdu Fantasia Wangcong Culture 

Development Company Limited*

The PRC 
6 August 2008

RMB300,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都九蓉房地產開發有限公司
Chengdu Jiurong Real Estate 

Development Limited*

The PRC 
22 August 2007

RMB320,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

深圳市花樣年房地產開發有限公司
Shenzhen Fantasia Real Estate 

Company Limited*

The PRC 
20 April 2006

RMB150,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

54. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(a) Material subsidiaries of the Company (continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment

Issued and 

fully paid share/

registered capital

Proportion 

ownership interest 

held by the Group Principal activities Legal form

2015 2014       

惠州市惠陽區花千里實業有限公司
Huizhou Huiyang Huaqianli 

Industry Company Limited.*

The PRC 
14 August 2012

RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

蘇州花萬裡房地產開發有限公司
Suzhou Huawanli Real Estate 

Company Limited*

The PRC 
9 September 2009

RMB180,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

東莞花千里房地產開發有限公司
Dongguan Huaqianli Property 

Development Company Limited*

The PRC 
30 April 2012

RMB30,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都市諾亞舟實業有限公司
Chengdu Nuoyazhou 

Development Company Limited*

The PRC 
17 June 2008

RMB300,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

桂林萬豪房地產開發有限公司
Guilin Wanhao Property 

Development Limited*

The PRC 
14 November 2007

RMB250,000,000 100% 51% Property development Limited liability 
company

桂林聚豪房地產開發有限公司
Guilin Juhao Property 

Development Limited*

The PRC
14 November 2007

RMB250,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

花萬裡投資（北京）有限公司 
Huawanli Investment (Beijing) 

Company Limited*

The PRC 
13 September 2012

RMB779,150,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都望叢房地產開發有限公司
Chengdu Wangcong Property 

Development Company Limited*

The PRC 
28 June 2014

RMB394,400,000 60% 60% Property development Limited liability 
company

54. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(a) Material subsidiaries of the Company (continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Place and date of 

incorporation/

establishment

Issued and 

fully paid share/

registered capital

Proportion 

ownership interest 

held by the Group Principal activities Legal form

2015 2014       

蘇州銀莊置地有限公司
Suzhou Yinzhuang Real Estate 

Company Limited*

The PRC 
25 January 2006

RMB500,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

惠州TCL房地產開發有限公司
Huizhou TCL Property 

Development Company Limited*

The PRC 
29 December 2004

RMB100,000,000 100% 100% Property development Limited liability 
company

成都花樣年置富房地產開發有限公司
Chengdu Fantasia Zhifu Property 

Development Company Limited*

The PRC 
13 March 2014

RMB500,000,000 100% 60% Property development Limited liability 
company

寧波世紀華豐房產有限公司
Ningbo Century Huafeng 

Property Company Limited*

The PRC 
25 March 2010

RMB427,500,000 100% 49% Property development Limited liability 
company

深圳市開元國際物業管理有限公司
Shenzhen Kaiyuan International 

Property Management 
Company Limited*#^

The PRC RMB330,000,000 100% – Provision of property 
operation services

Limited liability 
company

Morning Star Group Limited 
(“Morning Star”)^

Hong Kong RMB181,560,000 100% – Provision of travel agency 
service

Limited liability 
company

* The English name is for identification purpose only.

# These subsidiaries were held by a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company namely Colour Life as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

^ These subsidiaries were acquired during the year ended 31 December 2015. Details are set out in note 45.

Δ Except for these subsidiaries were directly held by the Company, all other subsidiaries are indirectly owned by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the 
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in 
particulars of excessive length.

54. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(a) Material subsidiaries of the Company (continued)
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54. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(b) Composition of the Group
Information about the subsidiaries of the Company that are not material to the Group at the end of each reporting 
period is as follow:

Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
2015 2014    

Investment holding BVI 20 20
Hong Kong 20 14
PRC 18 18
USA 1 1
Singapore 1 1

Property development PRC 65 48
Property investment PRC 1 1

Japan 1 1
Property agency services PRC 1 1
Property operation services PRC 89 59
Hotel operations PRC 5 5

USA 1 1
Other Hong Kong 4 –    

227 170    
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54. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and 2014
that have material non-controlling interests.

Name
of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation
and principal
place of business

Ownership
interests and
rights held by

non-controlling interests

Profit (loss) 
attributable to 

non-controlling interest
Accumulated

non-controlling interests
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

深圳市彩生活物業管理有限公司
Shenzhen Colour Life Property 

Management Company  Limited 
(“Shenzhen Colour Life”)

The PRC 49.61% 49.61% 31,983 54,788 147,227 115,244

天津松江花樣年置業有限公司
Tianjin Songjiang Fantasia Real 

Estate Company Limited 
(“Tianjin Songjiang”)

The PRC 40% 40% (7,115) (10,498) 69,020 72,572

深圳安博電子有限公司 
Shenzhen Anbo Electronic 

Company Limited

The PRC 39% 39% (43) (56) 32,755 33,187

深圳市飛高至卓實業有限公司 
Shenzhen Feigao Zhizhuo 

Company Limited

The PRC 39% 39% (80) – 81,820 40,897

 

24,745 44,234 330,822 261,900
Individually immaterial subsidiaries 

with non-controlling interests 103,586 30,211 672,082 957,135     

128,331 74,445 1,002,904 1,219,035    

Summarised financial information in respect of Company’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is 
set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intra group eliminations.
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54. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company (continued)

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (continued)

Tianjin Songjiang Shenzhen Colour Life
2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

Current assets 118,545 102,918 806,648 178,342
Non-current assets 225,278 227,506 29,830 156,611
Current liabilities 171,273 146,508 429,708 102,653
Non-current liabilities – 2,485 110,000 –
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 103,530 108,859 149,543 117,056
Non-controlling interests 69,020 72,572 147,227 115,244     
Revenue 10,847 2,210 158,888 179,634
Cost of sales (11,724) (26,917) (55,068) (23,516)
Expenses (16,912) (1,538) (39,351) (39,324)
(Loss)/profit for the year (17,789) (26,245) 64,469 116,794
(Loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the Group (10,674) (15,747) 32,486 62,006
(Loss)/profit attributable to the non-controlling interests (7,115) (10,498) 31,983 54,788
Surplus on Revaluation for the year – –
Surplus on Revaluation attributable to the owners 

of the Group 5,344 – – –
Surplus on Revaluation attributable 

to the non-controlling interests 3,563 – – –     
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities (22,432) (15,727) 61,871 131,066
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities (41) 26,088 (3,265) (5,961)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities 20,873 (12,092) (79,470) (110,495)
Net cash (outflow) inflow (1,600) (1,731) (20,864) 14,610     

Feigao Zhizhuo Shenzhen Anbo
2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

Current assets 223,153 104,782 464,920 33
Non-current assets 18 172 35 185,562
Current liabilities 13,375 90 380,969 101,214
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 127,976 63,967 51,231 51,194
Non-controlling interests 81,820 40,897 32,755 33,187     
Expenses and loss for the year (204) – (111) (143)
Loss attributable to the owners of the Group (124) – (68) (87)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests (80) – (43) (56)     
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities (3,217) – (20,982) (15,862)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from investing activities (19) – (16) –
Net cash inflow from financing activities 6,691 – 20,767 15,953
Net cash inflow (outflow) 3,455 – (231) 91     
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

55. Information About the Statement of Financial Position of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 2,536,908 2,021,256
Amounts due from subsidiaries 7,066,355 7,403,832 

9,603,263 9,425,088

CURRENT ASSETS
Other receivables 451 6
Banks balances and cash 1,543 2,757 

1,994 2,763

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables 15,537 5,787
Amounts due to subsidiaries 4,400 84,204
Bank borrowing 201,495 –
Senior notes 1,004,105 746,051 

1,225,537 836,042

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (1,223,543) (833,279)  

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,379,720 8,591,809 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Senior notes 6,636,915 6,022,081 

TOTAL ASSETS LESS TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,742,805 2,569,728 

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 497,797 497,485
Reserves 1,245,008 2,072,243 

1,742,805 2,569,728
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55. Information About the Statement of Financial Position of the Company (continued)

Share
capital

Share
premium

Retained
profits

(accumulated
losses)

Share
options
reserve Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

At 1 January 2014 429,575 1,876,311 51,974 16,176 2,374,036
Loss and total comprehensive 

expense for the year – – (441,213) – (441,213)
Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments (note 49) – – – 3,353 3,353
Issue of share as consideration 

of subsidiaries 67,900 871,625 – – 939,525
Issue of share upon exercise 

of share option 10 101 – (30) 81
Dividend distributed to 

shareholders of the Company 
(note 14) – (306,054) – – (306,054)  

At 31 December 2014 497,485 2,441,983 (389,239) 19,499 2,569,728    

Loss and total comprehensive 
expense for the year – – (586,968) – (586,968)

Recognition of equity-settled 
share-based payments (note 49) – – – 2,464 2,464

Issue of share upon exercise of 
share Option 312 3,219 – (938) 2,593

Share option lapsed – – 3,092 (3,092) –
Dividend distributed to 

shareholders of the Company 
(note 13) – (245,012) – – (245,012)  

At 31 December 2015 497,797 2,200,190 (973,115) 17,933 1,742,805    

56. Event After the Reporting Period

On 4 January 2016, Fantasia Group China further issued domestic corporate bonds of RMB1,100,000,000 with a term of
five years (“2016 Domestic Corporate Bonds”), carrying interest at rate of 7.29% per annum. At the end of the third year,
Fantasia Group China shall be entitled to increase the interest rate and the holders of 2016 Domestic Corporate Bonds may
at their options to sell back to Fantasia Group China. The proceeds are to be used for refinancing certain of the Group’s
existing indebtedness and for the general working capital purposes.
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